
 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Wednesday, 25 January 2023.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

Planning 
Committee  

     
 

 

Thursday, 2 February 2023 at 1.00 pm 
Council Chamber - Council Offices,  

St. Peter's Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 

Committee 
Members: 

 

Councillor David Bellamy (Chairman) 
Councillor Penny Milnes (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing, Councillor John Cottier, Councillor Julia Reid, 
Councillor Penny Robins, Councillor Ian Selby, Councillor Judy Stevens,  
Councillor Ian Stokes, Councillor Paul Wood and Vacancy (Alliance SK)  
And 2 Vacancies (Conservative) 
 

Agenda 
 

 This meeting can be watched as a live stream, or at a later 
date, via the SKDC Public-I Channel 

 

 

1.   Register of attendance and apologies for absence 
 

 

2.   Disclosure of interests 
 

Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the meeting 
 

 

3.   Minutes of the meeting held on 12 January 2023 
 

(Pages 3 - 14) 

  
 
Planning matters 
 

To consider applications received for the grant of planning 
permission – reports prepared by the Case Officer. 

The anticipated order of consideration is as shown on the 
agenda, but this may be subject to change, at the discretion of the 

Chairman of the Committee. 

 
 
 
 

 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
https://southkesteven.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 

 
 

4.   Application S22/1953 

Proposal:                    Two-storey classroom extensions to existing 
science block and additional external staircases. 

Location:                    Stamford School, St. Paul’s Street, Stamford, PE9   
2BE 

Recommendation:     To authorise the Assistant Director – Planning to 
GRANT planning permission subject to conditions 

 

(Pages 15 - 37) 

5.   Application S22/1828 

Proposal:                    Siting of residential log cabin structure to be 
occupied in connection with petting farm use 

Location:                    Tiny Steps Petting Farm, Park Wood Road, 
Thurlby, PE10 0EL 

Recommendation:     To authorise the Assistant Director – Planning to 
REFUSE planning permission  

 

(Pages 39 - 66) 

6.   Application S22/1718 

Proposal:                    Outline application for redevelopment of site for 
mixed use development comprising of Class 
C3(a) (Residential) and Class E(c)(ii) (Office) 
(Appearance, Layout and Scale for Approval) 

Location:                    Ross Thain & Co LTD, Belton Street, Stamford 

Recommendation:     To authorise the Assistant Director to GRANT 
planning permission, subject to conditions and 
completion of a Section 106 Agreement. 

 

(Pages 67 - 116) 

7.   Any other business, which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent 
 

 



1 
 

Minutes 
 

Planning Committee 
 

Thursday, 12 January 2023, 1.00 pm 
 

Council Chamber – South 
Kesteven House, St. Peter’s Hill, 
Grantham.  
NG31 6PZ 

 

 

Committee Members present 
 

 

Councillor David Bellamy (Chairman) 
Councillor Penny Milnes (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Julia Reid 
Councillor Penny Robins 
Councillor Ian Selby 
Councillor Judy Stevens 
Councillor Ian Stokes 
Councillor Paul Wood 
Councillor Richard Cleaver 
Councillor Helen Crawford 
Councillor Phil Dilks 
Councillor Mary Whittington 
 

Cabinet Members present 
 

Councillor Adam Stokes (Deputy Leader of the Council) 
Councillor Nick Robins (Cabinet Member for Planning and Planning Policy) 

Officers 
 

 

Nicola McCoy Brown (Director of Growth and Culture) 
Emma Whittaker (Assistant Director of Planning) 
Graham Watts (Assistant Director of Governance) 
Adam Murray (Principal Planning Officer) 
Hannah Noutch (Development Management Planner) 
Shemuel Seikh (Legal Advisor) 
Amy Pryde (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

 
54. Register of attendance and apologies for absence 

 
An apology for absence had been received from Councillor Harish Bisnauthsing.  

 
Councillor Richard Cleaver substituted for Councillor Harish Bisnauthsing. 

 
Councillor Helen Crawford and Councillor Mary Whittington filled the two 
Conservative vacancies.  

3

Agenda Item 3



2 
 

 
Councillor Phil Dilks filled the Alliance SK vacancy.  

 
55. Disclosure of interests 

 
No interests were disclosed. 

 
56. Minutes of the Additional Meeting held on 17 November 2022 

 
The minutes of the Additional Meeting held on 17 November 2022 were proposed, 
seconded, and AGREED as a correct record. 

 
57. Minutes of the Meeting held on 1 December 2022 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 1 December 2022 were proposed, seconded, 
and AGREED as a correct record. 

 
58. Application S22/1953 

 
Proposal:                                  Two-storey classroom extensions to existing 

science block and additional external staircases.  
 

Location:                                   Stamford School, St. Paul’s Street, Stamford, PE9 
2BE  

 
Recommendation:                   To authorise the Assistant Director – Planning to 

GRANT planning permission subject to conditions 
 

Noting comments made in the public speaking session by: 
 

On Behalf of the Applicant:         Dean White (Bursar and Clerk to the Governor at  
Stamford Endowed schools) 

 
Together with: 

 

• Provisions within the South Kesteven Local Plan 2022-2036, the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), Design Guidelines Supplementary 
Planning Document and Stamford Neighbourhood Plan 2016-2036. 

• No comments received from Anglian Water. 

• No comments received from Cadent Gas. 

• No comments received from Stamford Civic Society.  

• Comments received from SKDC Conservation Officer. 

• Comments received from Stamford Town Council.  

• Comments received from SKDC Environmental Protection.  

• Comments received from Heritage Lincolnshire.  
 

During questions to the Public Speaker, Members commented on: 
 

4



3 
 

• That the design of the existing building was not in line with the architectural 
heritage of Stamford. It was queried as to whether the Applicant had 
considered improving the appearance of the existing building when carrying 
out the proposed extension work. The Applicant had not considered making 
any adjustments to the existing building.  

• The location of the proposed trees was queried. The Applicant confirmed that 
the proposed trees would be used to soften boundaries between the site and 
the neighbours for overlooking purposes.  

• Concern was raised on the impact on the character and appearance of the 
area and the impact on neighbours. It was questioned as to who decided the 
site had no harm to visual amenity. It was confirmed to be a Planning Officer 
recommendation in line with the Conservation Officer’s comments and 
reviewed by the Principal Planning Officer.  

 
During questions to Officers and debate, Members commented on: 

 

• Several Members expressed their disappointment that the existing building 
would not be improved. It was suggested that the school revisit the possibility 
of upgrading the top floor of the existing building.  

• Members commented on the proposed trees for the site and that 2 trees 
would be planted for every 1. It was noted that three trees would be removed, 
however, they were relatively old in age and were not seen as a huge loss.  

• One Member queried as to whether planting 3 trees per 1 could be 
conditioned. The Planning Officer confirmed that the condition proposed was 
for the tree planting scheme to be submitted, however, the Applicants may be 
happy to work based on planting 3 trees per 1.  

• That the benefits of the proposal for the school children outweighed the visual 
impacts of the existing building.  
 

It was proposed, seconded and AGREED to authorise the Assistant Director of 
Planning to GRANT planning permission subject to conditions.  

 
Time Limit for Commencement  

 
1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration 

of three years from the date of this permission. 
 

Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as 
set out in Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended).  

 
Approved Plans  

 
2)       The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 

the following list of approved plans:   
            

a. Site Location Plan re. P22009-ARC-00-00-DR-A-0001 received 4 
October 2022  

5



4 
 

 
          b.   Proposed Site Plan re. P22009-ARC-00-00-DR-A-2000 REV P2 received 

14 November 2022  
 

c.   Proposed Elevation Plan re. P22009-ARC-00-00-DR-A-2101 received 4 
October 2022  

 
          d.   Proposed Ground Floor Plan re. P22009-ARC-00-01-DR-A-2001 received 

4 October 2022 
 

          e.    Proposed First Floor Plan re. P22009-ARC-00-02-DR-A-2002 received 4 
October 2022 

 
          f.     Proposed Second Floor Plan re. P22009-ARC-00-03-DR-A-2003 

received 4 October 2022  
 

   Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.  
 

         Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.  
 

During Building Works  
 

Materials Samples  
 

3) Before any works on the external elevations of the development hereby 
permitted is begun, samples of the materials (including colour of any render, 
paintwork or colourwash) to be used in the construction of the external 
surfaces shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in 
accordance with Policy DE1 and Policy EN6 of the adopted South Kesteven 
Local Plan. 

 
Tree Protection Measures  

 
4) Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, the Tree Protection 

Measures set out in the Tree Survey, Arboricultural Impact Assessment, 
Preliminary Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan 
(Hayden’s Arboricultural Consultants) (Dated 14 November 2021) and as 
shown on the Tree Protection Plan (Ref: 9752-D1AIA) shall be implemented in 
full. Thereafter, the development must be carried out in accordance with the 
approved protection measures.  

 
Reason: Trees can make an important contribution to the character and 
quality of urban environments and can also help to mitigate and adapt to 
climate change, in accordance with Policy SD1, EN1, EN2 and DE1 of the 
adopted South Kesteven Local Plan. 

6



5 
 

 
 

Archaeological Works Compliance 
 

5) Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, the Archaeological 
Investigations shall have been completed in accordance with the Written 
Scheme of Investigation (APS Archaeological Services) (Dated December 
2022) received by the Local Planning Authority on 13 December 2022.  
 
Reason: In order to provide a reasonable opportunity to record the history of 
the site and in accordance with Policy EN6 of the adopted South Kesteven 
Local Plan and Paragraph 199 of the Framework.  

 
Precautionary Contamination Condition  

 
6) Should the developer during excavation and construction works of the said 

development site find any area of the site where it is suspected that the land is 
contaminated then all works must stop, and the Local Planning Authority 
notified immediately. An investigation and risk assessment must be 
undertaken and where remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme must 
be prepared in accordance with current good practice and legislation and 
submitted an approved by the Local Planning Authority; and the approved 
remediation shall thereafter be implemented. Following completion of the 
measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a verification report 
must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local 
Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: Previous activities associated with the site may have caused, or had 
the potential to cause, land contamination and to ensure that any site 
investigation and remediation will not cause pollution in the interests of the 
amenities of the future users of the development; and in accordance with 
Local Plan Policy EN4.  

 
Obscure Glazing Details  

 
7) Prior to the installation of any external windows hereby permitted, a plan 

detailing the strategy for the obscure glazing of windows within the 
development shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The submitted plan shall indicate the windows that 
are to obscure glazed, the design / extent of the proposed glazing, the level of 
obscurity provided by the proposed glazing, and whether the relevant windows 
are to be fixed. Thereafter, the windows shall be installed in accordance with 
the approved details prior to first use of the approved extensions, and shall be 
retained as such in perpetuity.  

 
Reason: To safeguard the amenity / privacy of occupiers of the neighbouring 
residential properties.  

 

7



6 
 

 
Before the Development is Occupied  

 
Materials Implementation  

 
8) Before any part of the development hereby permitted is brought into use, the 

external surfaces shall have been completed in accordance with the approved 
details.  

 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in 
accordance with Policy DE1 and EN6 of the adopted South Kesteven Local 
Plan.  

 
Replacement Tree Planting Implementation  
 

9) Before the end of the first planting / seeding season following first use of any 
part of the development hereby permitted, details of a soft landscaping 
scheme, including details of replacement tree planting to mitigate for the 
removal of existing trees as part of the development shall have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details 
shall include planting plans, written specifications (including cultivation and 
other operations associated with plant establishment) and schedule of plants 
(noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers as appropriate). 
Thereafter, all soft landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details by the end of the subsequent planting season.  

 
Reason: Trees can make an important contribution to the character and 
quality of urban environments and can also help to mitigate and adapt to 
climate change, in accordance with Policy SD1, EN1, EN2 and DE1 of the 
adopted South Kesteven Local Plan 

 
Ongoing Conditions  

 
Soft Landscaping  

 
10)  Within a period of five years from the first use of the development hereby 

permitted, any trees or plants provided as part of the approved replacement 
tree planting scheme, that die or become, in the opinion of the Local 
Planning Authority, seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced in the 
first planting season following any such loss, with a specimen of the same 
size and species as was approved in Condition 5 above, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: To ensure the provision, establishment and maintenance of a 
reasonable standard of landscaping in accordance with Policy DE1 and EN2 
of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan 

 

8



7 
 

59. Application S22/1116 
 

Proposal:                                  Application for approval of reserved matters relating 
to appearance, landscaping, layout and scale for 17 
(no) dwellings for over 55’s pursuant to outline 
planning permission S18/1408  

 
Location:                                   Spittlegate Farm, Gorse Lane, Grantham  

 
Recommendation:                   To authorise the Assistant Director - Planning to 

GRANT planning permission, subject to conditions 
 

Together with: 
 

• Provisions within the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036, the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), Design Guidelines for Rutland and South 
Kesteven Supplementary Planning Document and Lincolnshire Minerals and 
Waste Local Plan: Core Strategy and Development Management Policies 
DPD.  

• No comments received from Anglian Water. 

• No comments received from Association of Gardens Trust. 

• No comments received from Grantham Civic Society. 

•  No comments received from Heritage Lincolnshire.   

• No comments received from Historic England. 

• Comments received from Lincolnshire County Council (Highways & SuDS). 

• No comments received from Lincolnshire County Council (Minerals).  

• Comments received from Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue  

• No comments received from Lincolnshire Police and Crime Prevention Officer.  

• Comments received from SKDC Affordable Housing Officer. 

• Comments received from SKDC Conservation Officer.  

• No comments received from SKDC Environmental Protection.  

• Comments received from SKDC Principal Urban Design Officer. 

• No comments received from SKDC Tree Officer.  

• No comments received from Ward Member.  
 

During questions to Officers, Members commented on: 
 

• Clarification was sought on whether the original application counteracted this 
application in terms of the S106 agreement which declared footpaths and 
other schemes. It was confirmed that the S106 agreement carried forward as 
part of reserved matters, which was a supplementary addition of the outline 
planning permission. The footpath was covered by condition which would be 
carried forward for the reserved matters application.  

• Whether the application provided any scope to protect birds nesting and 
provide bird boxes. The Planning Officer highlighted that a condition on the 
outline planning permission secured a scheme to provide bird and bat boxes, 
which would be in place for the reserved matters application.  

9



8 
 

• Concern was raised on whether Highways or a private company would 
maintain and cut the front boundary and prevent the boundary from 
overgrowing which could affect the footpath. The Planning Officer noted that it 
would depend on the extent of where the Highway boundary was placed as to 
whether Lincolnshire County Council would be responsible. If the boundary fell 
within the ownership of the applicant, a private management company would 
be expected to take on the responsibility.  
 

During debate, Members commented on: 
 

• One Member noted that Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue had submitted a formal 
objection on the grounds of inadequate water supply for firefighting purposes, 
they had suggested that additional hydrants were required. Furthermore, the 
report stated that it was not possible to impose any additional obligation 
requiring the provision of fire hydrants at this stage. It was highlighted that 
risks were increased when it came to fires in retirement or over 55 
communities due to vulnerability and dependency of residents who reside in 
them. Concern was raised that a possible fire incident may occur and indicate 
that the Council had not considered to have met guidance at time of 
construction. The Planning Officer identified where the formal objection would 
sit at formal planning application stage. A request for fire hydrants or provision 
of additional fire hydrants should have been submitted at the outline planning 
application stage and would have been secured through the S106 agreement 
at that point. The Committee were reassured that building regulations 
processes included an element relating to fire hydrants or alternative 
measures for water supply.  

• Whether the implementation of additional fire hydrants would be considered 
and revisited again. It was confirmed that this could not be considered through 
planning, however, there were additional measures and guidance that the 
developer would need to comply with, in terms of building regulations and 
appropriate supplies of water to tackle fire safety issues.  

• It was queried as to whether the Applicant could be asked to provide 
additional fire hydrants or a sufficient water supply. The Planning Officer noted 
that a conversation would be held with the developer in terms of fire safety, 
however, this could not be considered at this point and should not affect any 
decision making for Members.  

• A query was raised on the Gorse Road original hedgerows being preserved 
and enhanced and whether this could be conditioned due to other hedgerows 
in different sites being removed. It was noted that this aspect was covered by 
condition 3.  

• Whether there was a penalty in place should the hedgerows be removed. It 
was assured that it depended on the quality and details of the specific 
hedgerow. Consent would need to be applied for before a hedgerow was 
removed.  
 

The Assistant Director of Planning highlighted that if the Council had evidence that 
a hedgerow that needed consent was removed, enforcement powers would need to 
be explored. The removal of unprotected hedgerows and tree was not development 

10



9 
 

and would not fall under the planning regime if it fell outside of control of the 
planning application.  

 

• One Member raised a query on whether there were any planning rules that 
could be enforced to prevent the applicant from putting netting over the 
hedgerows during the development of the site as this may affect the wildlife 
population considerably. It was confirmed that from a planning perspective, a 
condition could be made, however, separate legislation in terms of the 
protection of wildlife fell outside of the planning process.  

• Assurance was sought regarding the fire hydrants and that it would not be a 
potential hazard for individuals living in the property. The Planning Officer 
stated that a supplementary process would need to be adhered to, following 
approval of the application regarding building regulations which would capture 
fire regulations.  
 

The Assistant Director of Planning further clarified that consultation with the Fire 
Authority would be part of the building regulation application and would consult as 
required under the legislation.  

 

• It was queried as to whether the concept of a gated community raised any 
planning issues. It was assured that a gated community did not raise any 
concerns in regard to planning perspective.  

• It was noted that a water tower was within 200 yards of the site.  
 

Members thanked Officers for the detailed plans provided.  
 

It was proposed, seconded and AGREED to authorise the Assistant Director of 
Planning to GRANT planning permission subject to conditions.  

 
Approved Plans  

 
(1)    The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following list of approved plans: 
 
a. Proposed Block Plan (Ref: 20-047/002)  
b. Proposed Block Plan: Inset Plan (Ref: 20-047/003)  
c. Proposed Floor Plans and Elevations: Units 1-5 (Ref: 20-047/004/Rev A)  
d. Proposed Floor Plans: Unit 6-13 (Ref: 20-047/005/Rev A)  
e. Proposed Elevations: Unit 6-13 (Ref: 20-047/006/Rev A)  
f.  Proposed Floor Plans and Elevations: Unit 14 – 17 (Ref: 20-047/007)  
g. Proposed External Works (Ref: 20-047/BP/001/Rev D)  
 

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.  
 

Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.  
 

During Building Works  
 

11



10 
 

Materials Details  
 

(2) Before any works on the external elevations of the dwellings hereby permitted 
are begun, details of the materials (including colour of render, paintwork or 
colourwash) to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 
development hereby permitted shall have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in 
accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted Local Plan.  

 
Soft Landscaping Details  

 
(3) Notwithstanding the submitted plans, no development above damp-proof course 

shall take place until full details of all soft landscaping works, including the 
selection of appropriate plant species, shall have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details shall be in broad 
accordance with approved plan Proposed External Works (Ref: 20-
047/BP/001/Rev D) and shall include:  

 
a. Planting plans  
b. Written specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated 

with plant and grass establishment)  
c. Schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers / 

densities where appropriate.  
 

Reason: Soft landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the 
development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with 
Policy DE1, EN1 and OS1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 
Hard Landscaping Details  

 
(4) Notwithstanding the submitted plans, no development above damp-proof course 

shall commence until details of hard landscaping works shall have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details 
shall be in broad accordance with approved plan Proposed External Works 
(Ref: 20-047/BP/001/Rev D) and shall include:  

 
a. Detailed specification and materials for all hard surfaces, including the 

internal private road, communal courtyards and boundary treatments.  
 
Reason: Hard landscaping makes an important contribution to the 
development and its assimilation with its surroundings in accordance with 
Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.  
 

Before the Development is Occupied  
 

Materials Implementation 

12



11 
 

 
(5) Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, the dwellings 

must have been completed in accordance with the approved external materials 
details.  

 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in 
accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 
Hard and Soft Landscaping Implementation  

 
(6) Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, all hard works 

shall have been carried out in accordance with the approved landscaping 
details.  

 
Reason: Hard and soft landscaping make an important contribution to 
development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with 
Policy DE1 and EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 
Ongoing Conditions  

 
Soft Landscaping Implementation  

 
(7) Before the end of the first planting season following the final occupation of the 

development hereby permitted, all soft landscaping works shall have been 
completed in accordance with the approved landscaping details.  

 
Reason: Soft landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to 
the development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance 
with Policy DE1, EN1 and OS1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan. 

 
60. Any other business, which the Chairman, by reason of special circumstances, 

decides is urgent 
 

There was none. 
 

61. Close of Meeting 
 

The Chairman closed the meeting at 13:50. 
 
 

13



This page is intentionally left blank

14



 

 

 

Planning Committee 

2 February 2023 

  

   

         
  

S22/1953 

Proposal: Two-storey classroom extensions to existing science block and 
additional external staircases.  

Location: Stamford School, St. Paul’s Street, Stamford, PE9 2BE 
Applicant: Mr Stewart Dorey – Stamford Endowed Schools 
Agent: Mr Peter Bradley – Artica LTD 
Application Type: Full Planning Permission  
Reason for Referral 
to Committee: 

Assistant Director for Planning considers that the application should be 
considered by Planning Committee 

Key Issues: Impact on the character and appearance of the area 
Impact on neighbouring amenities 

Technical 
Documents: 

Heritage Impact Assessment  
Design and Access Statement  
Arboricultural Impact Assessment 
Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation 

 

 

Report Author 

Hannah Noutch, Development Management Planner 

 
 01476 406080 

  Hannah.Noutch@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Growth Regulatory Stamford St Mary's 

 

Reviewed by: Phil Jordan – Development Management Manager 23 January 2023 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

To authorise the Assistant Director – Planning to GRANT planning permission subject to 
conditions 

15

Agenda Item 4

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

S22/1953 – Stamford School, St Paul’s Street, Stamford   

  

16



 

 
 

1 Background 
 

1.1 This application was previously presented at the 12 January 2023 Planning Committee, 

when members resolved to approve the application in accordance with the officer 

recommendation. However, it has since come to light that there was an error that resulted 

in the Committee Public Speaking letters not being sent to neighbouring properties that 

had made representation on the application. As such, the application is being presented 

again to Planning Committee to ensure that those interested parties have an opportunity 

to attend and speak at the meeting. This is an updated version of the previous report and 

recommendation that was prepared for the 12 January 2023 meeting.  

 

1.2 Whilst it is relevant to know that members previously resolved to approve this application, 

members are not bound by that previous resolution. To the contrary this is a decision 

which members must take afresh irrespective of that previous resolution, based upon all of 

the considerations set out below. 

 

2 Description of Site 
 

2.1 The proposed development relates to the three-storey science block forming part of the 

Stamford Endowed School, accessed via Brazenose Lane in Stamford. The site is located 

within the Stamford Town Centre and falls within the Stamford Conservation Area.  

 

2.2 The existing building is finished with a range of external materials; primarily consisting of 

brick, with vertical lead cladding to the top floor. Demolition of a single storey projection to 

the eastern side of the building was approved under S22/1774.  

 

2.3 To the south of the site is a stone boundary wall which runs along a section of the southern 

boundary of the application site, positioned between the school and a number of the 

properties fronting onto St. Leonard’s Street. A number of these dwellings to the south are 

Grade II Listed Buildings, including Nos. 15-24 St. Leonard’s Street.  

 

3 Description of proposal 
 

3.1 The application proposals seek full planning permission for the erection of two-storey 

extensions to the existing science block, and the addition of external staircases.  

 

3.2 The proposed extensions are to be erected to the east and western sides of the existing 

science block and would be flat roof additions that would sit below the third-storey of the 

current building. The proposed external materials for the extension comprise of board on 

board timber cladding, with Kanweer AA720 SL Slimline casement windows and doors in a 

dark grey aluminium. 

 

3.3 The proposed external staircases would be situated along the northern elevation of the 

extended building and would provide access to the first floor of the proposed extension. 

These staircases are proposed to be formed of stainless steel with concrete infill tray treads.  

 

17



 

 
 

3.4 In addition, as part of the proposed development scheme, an existing timber shingle feature 

panel on the northern elevation of the existing building would be replaced with a living wall 

featuring vertical planting.  

 

4 Relevant History 
 

Reference Proposal Decision Date 
S22/1774 Demolition of single storey side workshop 

and staff restroom 
Approved 
Conditionally 

15.11.2022 

    

 

5 Policy Considerations 
 

5.1 South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (Adopted January 2020) 

Policy SD1 – The Principles of Sustainable Development in South Kesteven 

Policy SP1 – Spatial Strategy 

Policy SP2 – Settlement Hierarchy 

Policy EN2 – Protecting Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

Policy EN4 – Pollution Control  

Policy EN6 – The Historic Environment 

Policy DE1 – Promoting Good Quality Design 

 

5.2 Stamford Neighbourhood 2016-2036 (Made July 2022) 

Policy 8 – The Historic Environment 

Policy 10 – Character Areas 

 

5.3 Design Guidelines Supplementary Planning Document (Adopted November 2021) 

 

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

Section 2 – Achieving Sustainable Development 

Section 4 – Decision-making 

Section 9 – Promoting sustainable transport 

Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places 

Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

Section 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

 

6 Representations Received 
 

6.1 Anglian Water 

6.1.1 No comments to make 

 

6.2 Cadent Gas 

6.2.1 No objections 

 

6.3 Stamford Civic Society 

6.3.1 Underwhelmed by the scheme. The landscaping plan is lamentable, especially for the 

neighbours at the rear of the proposal. The proposed removal of a further 4 mature trees 

will leave no trees to mask the block and will expose all the properties to the industrialised 

18



 

 
 

aesthetic of the proposed extensions. What is desperately needed is a comprehensive 

landscaping plan to soften and screen the new classrooms from all the properties backing 

onto this proposal. The removal of only the trees as a landscaping proposal in the Haydens 

Arboricultural Consultants plan 9752-F-AIA is laughable. This needs to be sorted out 

properly. We also agree with the Town Council's recommendation that all surrounding 

mature trees should have a Preservation Order attached to them. With regard to the very 

brief Statement about the archaeology of the site in the Heritage report, at the very least 

there should be a planning condition to ensure there is a watching brief. 

 

6.4 SKDC Conservation Officer 

6.4.1 No objection to the proposed works, subject to the imposition of a condition requiring 

samples of the proposed materials 

 

6.5 Stamford Town Council 

6.5.1 No objection subject to neighbour’s amenities being respected.  

 

6.6 SKDC Environmental Protection 

6.6.1 No objections subject to the inclusion of a precautionary contamination condition.  

 

6.7 Heritage Lincolnshire 

6.7.1 No objections subject to the inclusion of a condition requiring the works to be carried out in 

accordance with the submitted Written Scheme of Investigation.  

 

7 Representations as a Result of Publicity 
 

7.1 The application has been advertised in accordance with the Council’s Statement of 

Community Involvement and 5 letters of public representation have been received. The 

representations have raised the following matters:  

 

1. Loss of trees on the site without sufficient replanting proposals 

2. Top windows on the western elevation of the west extension would overlook 

12. St. Leonard’s Street and its recently approved residential space to the 

rear 

3. Proximity of the build, and the depth of the foundations, to the rear of 12 St. 

Leonard’s Street.  

4. The scale and mass of the proposed building will further reduce the amount 

of natural light into the garden and properties of 22 St. Leonard’s Street and 

neighbouring properties 

5. The design of the building is not in keeping with the architectural heritage of 

the local surroundings and Conservation Area 

6. Adverse impacts in traffic and pollution as a result of the increase in students 

the development would generate.  

7. Impact on biodiversity, in particular local wildlife such as hedgehogs 

8. Impact on the boundary wall between the school and the properties on St. 

Leonard’s Street.  

 

 

 

19



 

 
 

8 Evaluation 
 

8.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the Local 

Planning Authority makes decisions in accordance with the adopted Development Plan, 

unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In this case, the Development Plan 

comprises of the following documents:  

 

(i) South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (Adopted January 2020); and  

(ii) Stamford Neighbourhood Plan 2016-2036 (Made July 2022). 

 

8.2 Furthermore, the Local Planning Authority have adopted a Design Guidelines 

Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (Adopted November 2021) and this document is 

a material consideration in the determination of planning applications.  

 

8.3 The policies and provisions set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (“the 

Framework”) (Adopted July 2021) are also a relevant material consideration in the 

determination of planning applications.  

 

8.4 Principle of Development 

 

8.4.1 Local Plan Policy SP1 (Spatial Strategy) outlines the overall strategy for the District during 

the plan period, in particular the focus for the majority of growth is in and around the four 

market towns, which include Stamford. Decisions about the scale and location of new 

development are to be taken on the basis of the settlement hierarchy.  

 

8.4.2 Policy SP2 (Settlement Hierarchy) identifies Stamford as one of the four market towns where 

“development which maintains and supports the role of the market towns will be allowed, 

provided that it does not compromise their nature and character”.  

 

8.4.3 The application site in this instance is part of the wider Stamford Endowed School site, 

located within the main built-up part of the town. The application proposals seek planning 

permission for an extension to the existing educational facility, and as such, the 

development is considered to be acceptable in principle, in accordance with Policy SD1, 

SP1 and SP2 of the adopted Local Plan, and the Stamford Neighbourhood Plan, subject to 

relevant material considerations as discussed below.  

 

8.5 Impact on the character and appearance of the area 

 

8.5.1 Local Plan Policy DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) states (amongst other criteria) that 

to ensure high quality design is achieved throughout the District, all development proposals 

will be expected to make a positive contribution to local distinctiveness, vernacular and 

character of the area. Proposals should reinforce local identify and not have an adverse 

impact on the streetscene, settlement pattern, or the landscape / townscape of the 

surrounding area. Proposals should be of an appropriate scale, density, massing, height 

and material given the context of the area.  

 

8.5.2 Similarly, Policy 10 (Character Areas) of the Stamford Neighbourhood Plan requires 

development proposals to have regard to the form, function and strategy of an area, place 

20



 

 
 

or street and the scale, mass and orientation of surrounding buildings of the character areas, 

as identified in the Stamford Character Study and Design Guide. The application site falls 

within the CA01 (Stamford) Character Area, which is identified as having the following key 

characteristics:  

 

(i) The central area of Stamford has a close grained organic settlement pattern 

(ii) There are a number of landmark buildings such as churches with tall spires and 

towers located throughout the area which contribute to the townscape 

(iii) The town has an historic street pattern that has developed since the medieval 

period 

(iv) Historic buildings throughout the area, rich in decorative architectural detailing 

(v) A distinct civic and commercial centre to the area.  

 

8.5.3 Part 12 of the NPPF (Achieving well-designed places) states that good design is a key 

aspect of sustainable development and new development should be visually attractive as a 

result of good architecture and appropriate landscaping.  

 

8.5.4 In respect of the above, the proposed extensions would be subordinate to the existing 

science block building, and the appearance of the proposals would reflect the general 

design of the existing unit. The proposed extensions would not be openly visible from the 

surrounding streetscene on St. Leonard’s Street or Brazenose Lane and any glimpsed views 

of the proposals, such as through the existing access, would not give rise to any adverse 

visual impacts when assessed in the context of the existing building.  

 

8.5.5 Whilst it is acknowledged that the proposals would be visible within the private garden areas 

of properties fronting St. Leonard’s Street and Brazenose Lane, the visual impact of the 

proposals are not considered to be any greater than that of the existing building to the extent 

that it would be considered harmful to the character and appearance of the area.  

 

8.5.6 It is noted that representations received have stated that the proposals are not in keeping 

with the character of the area, particularly given the site’s heritage context. However, in 

assessing the proposals, Officers’ have had regard to the scale, design and external 

appearance of the existing science block which forms part of the existing character of the 

area. In this context, it is Officers’ view that the proposed development is in keeping with the 

style and character of the existing science lock, and therefore the impact of the proposals 

would not be any greater than the existing building.  

 

8.5.7 As such, the proposed extensions are deemed to be appropriate for the character of the 

area on their own merits. Nonetheless, when viewed in the context of the existing science 

building, the proposal as a whole is not considered to result in any adverse visual impacts 

greater than those resulting from the existing building.  

 

8.5.8 Taking the above into account, as a result of the design, scale and materials to be used, the 

proposal would be in keeping with the existing science block to which it will be attached, 

and would not give rise to any unacceptable adverse impacts on the streetscene or the 

surrounding context. As such, the proposals are in accordance with the principles of Local 

Plan Policy DE1, Neighbourhood Plan Policy 8, and Section 12 of the National Planning 

Policy Framework.  

21



 

 
 

 

8.6 Impact on heritage assets 

 

8.6.1 As identified above, the application site is located within the Stamford Conservation Area 

and is also situated within close proximity to a large number of listed buildings, including 

those fronting onto St. Leonard’s Street to the south of the site.  

8.6.2 Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires 

Local Planning Authorities have special regard for the desirability of preserving listed 

building and their settings, or any special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 

 

8.6.3 Similarly, Section 72 requires the LPA to ensure that special attention is paid to the 

desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of any buildings or land 

within a Conservation Area.  

 

8.6.4 Policy EN6 of the Local Plan (The Historic Environment) is the primary development plan 

policy through which the Local Planning Authority exercises its statutory obligations. This 

policy states that the Council will seek to protect and enhance heritage assets and their 

settings, in keeping with the policies in the National Planning Policy Framework, and 

proposals will be expected to take Conservation Area Appraisals into account, where these 

have been adopted by the Council. Development that is likely to cause harm to the 

significance of a heritage asset or its setting will only be granted permission where the public 

benefits of the proposal outweigh the potential harm.  

 

8.6.5 Similarly, Policy 8 (The Historic Environment) of the Stamford Neighbourhood Plan identifies 

that development proposals will be supported where they conserve or enhance the 

significance of designated and non-designated heritage assets and their setting, through 

high quality and sensitive design, taking into consideration appropriate scale, materials and 

siting in relation to historic views identified within the Stamford Conservation Area 

Appraisals. 

 

8.6.6 Furthermore, the importance of considering the impact of development on the significance 

of designated heritage assets is expressed in Section 16 of the National Planning Policy 

Framework. The NPPF advises that development and alterations to designated heritage 

assets and their settings can cause harm. These policies ensure the protection and 

enhancement of the historic buildings and their environments. Proposals that preserve those 

elements of the setting that make a positive contribution to, or better reveal the significance, 

should be treated favourably.  

 

8.6.7 In relation to the above, the Council’s Conservation Officer has been consulted on the 

proposals and have confirmed that they have no objections to the scheme, subject to the 

imposition of a condition requiring samples of the external materials to be provided prior to 

their installation.  

 

8.6.8 The significance of this part of the conservation area is considered to be derived from the 

walls and buildings that follows consistent building lines to form continuous historic and 

characterful streets. As concluded above, there would only be very limited views towards 

the proposed development from these principal streets and that the existing building is 

already sited in this context. Likewise, whilst the proposed extensions would be visible from 

22



 

 
 

the private gardens of properties that from St Leonard’s Street, there would be no 

encroachment into these gardens and the extensions would be read in the context of the 

existing building.  

 

8.6.9 Taking the above into account, subject to the imposition of conditions requiring materials 

samples, the application proposals are deemed to not give rise to any harm to the setting 

and significance of the nearby listed buildings or the Stamford Conservation Area. As such, 

the application proposals would accord with Policy EN6 of the Local Plan, Policy 8 of the 

Stamford Neighbourhood Plan and Section 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 

8.7 Impact on neighbouring amenities’ 

 

8.7.1 Policy DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) states (amongst other criteria) that all 

development proposals will be expected to ensure that there is no adverse impact on the 

amenity of neighbouring users in terms of noise, light pollution, loss of privacy and loss of 

light, and should provide sufficient amenity space, suitable for the type and amount of 

development proposed.  

 

8.7.2 Paragraph 130 of the Framework states that developments should create places that are 

safe, inclusive, and accessible and which promote health and well-being, with a high 

standard of amenity of existing and future users; and where crime and disorder, and the fear  

of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion.  

 

8.7.3 The adopted Design Guidelines SPD (Adopted November 2021) identifies a series of 

standards that are to be utilised when assessing the quality of residential amenity provided 

by development proposals. This includes the following:  

 

(a) Where practical, windows should not look onto private areas of other homes, 

including habitable rooms (living rooms, dining rooms and bedrooms), kitchens and 

patio areas in gardens immediately adjoining the building.  

(b) The ’45-degree’ rule states that there is normally the potential to achieve adequate 

levels of daylight and outlook when no part of a building cuts through a line radiating 

at 45 degrees from the centre of a window that lights a habitable room.  

(c) The ’25-degree’ rule states that there is normally the potential to achieve adequate 

levels of daylight and outlook when no facing building breaks a 25-degree angle 

from the horizontal from a point 2 metres above floor level. This rule takes account 

of changes of level between buildings.  

(d) Where habitable rooms face the rear of a building, a back to back privacy distance 

of 21m window to window will be applied for 2-storey properties; and 28m window 

to window for 3-storey properties. Where habitable windows face a blank two-

storey elevation, a separation distance of 14m will be applied.  

 

8.7.4 Concern has been raised in representations over the potential for overlooking of 

neighbouring properties to the south from both of the proposed extensions. In this respect, 

it is noted that there are existing windows on the easternmost part of the existing southern 

elevation of the science block which would afford views towards these existing properties. 

As such, the proposed inclusion of windows at the first floor level of the eastern elevation 

would not introduce a new element of overlooking on these neighbouring properties and, 

23



 

 
 

therefore, would not be sufficient to warrant refusal of the application. Further, the 

separation distances between the proposed extensions and the existing properties would 

accord with the standards set out within the adopted Design Guidelines SPD.  

 

8.7.5 Nonetheless, following concerns raised about the potential impact of the proposed 

additional windows on the western elevation of the western extension, the Applicant has 

agreed to prepare a plan to demonstrate obscure glazing of these windows. As such, a 

condition is proposed to be included requiring the submission of details of any obscure 

glazing, and the subsequent implementation of the approved details.  

 

8.7.6 In respect of the representations raising concerns about the impact of the development on 

the availability of light serving the neighbouring properties, it is acknowledged that the 

properties on St. Leonard’s Street are situated at a lower ground level than the school site. 

However, in view of the separation distance from the proposed extension to the rear 

elevations of these dwellings (which exceeds 20 metres) and the proposed height of the 

extension, the application proposals would not result in any unacceptable impacts in terms 

of loss of light or outlook.  

 

8.7.7 Furthermore, the proposed external staircases are not considered to cause any additional 

harm to neighbours’ residential amenities as a result of noise pollution, when considering 

the location and extent of the existing external staircases serving the existing science block.  

 

8.7.8 Taking the above into account, subject to the imposition of conditions, it is concluded that 

the proposal would not have any unacceptable adverse impacts on neighbouring properties, 

and would provide an appropriate level of residential amenity for these occupants. As such, 

the application proposals accord with Local Plan Policy DE1, the adopted Design Guidelines 

SPD and Section 12 of the Framework in this regard.  

 

8.8 Impact on Ecology and Arboriculture 

 

8.8.1 As part of the application proposals, it is proposed to remove 2 trees, and undertake works 

to a further tree in order to accommodate the proposed western extension. The application 

has been accompanied by an Arboricultural Impact Assessment, which confirms that these 

trees are considered to be Category B and C value.  

 

8.8.2 Verbal comments have been obtained from the Council’s Arboricultural Consultee who has 

confirmed that, primarily due to their location, the trees proposed for removal would not have 

a high level of visual amenity and would not be recommended for a Tree Preservation Order 

should a separate application be submitted for their removal. However, it was noted that 

they do presently offer a level of screening to some of the neighbouring residential properties 

on St. Leonard’s Street and, therefore, the potential impact of the removal of these trees on 

the screening of the development should be considered as part of the overall planning 

judgement for this application.  

 

8.8.3 In this case, the Applicant has confirmed their intention to replace the removed trees with 

new tree planting elsewhere within the site. As such, subject to a condition, requiring details 

of the proposed replacement tree planting, the removal of the existing trees is not deemed 

to have an unacceptable adverse impact on trees. 

24



 

 
 

 

8.8.4 The comments from Stamford Civic Society in relation to landscaping are noted, and it is 

considered that the proposed landscaping condition will allow for a more detailed and 

comprehensive landscaping scheme to be provided which is in line with these comments. 

 

8.8.5 Furthermore, the concerns raised in relation to the impact of the development on biodiversity 

and wildlife within the site and the adjacent properties are noted. However, in this case, it is 

Officers’ assessment that the proposed development, and the related works, are situated 

within an urban environment and form part of an existing educational facility. As such, it is 

anticipated that the application scheme would not give rise to any harm to any protected 

species or wildlife, nor will it cause an unacceptable adverse impact on valued habitats. 

Notwithstanding the above assessment, it is appreciated that Protected Species, such as 

bats and breeding birds, are protected via separate legislation, and any harm caused to 

these species would be a criminal offence. An informative note is recommended to be 

included to this affect.  

 

8.8.6 Therefore, the scheme is concluded to accord with Local Plan Policy EN2 on these matters.  

 

8.9 Access and Highways Impact 

 

8.9.1 Paragraph 111 of the Framework advises that development should only be prevented or 

refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of the development are 

severe.  

 

8.9.2 The concerns raised within representations in relation to the increased level of traffic to the 

site, and the subsequent potential for increased air pollution are noted. However, the 

application proposals are an extension to the existing science block facility, and therefore 

are unlikely to give rise to any substantial increase in traffic movements.  

 

8.9.3 In connection with the above, Lincolnshire County Council (as Local Highways Authority) 

have been consulted and have confirmed that they have no objections.  

 

8.9.4 Similarly, the Council’s Environmental Protection Officer has also confirmed that they have 

no objections in relation to the potential for air pollution.  

 

8.9.5 Taking the above into account, the proposal would not give rise to any impacts on access, 

parking and turning facilities within the application site, and would not result in any 

unacceptable adverse impacts on highways safety and capacity, as required by Section 9 

of the Framework.  

 

8.10 Other Matters 

 

8.10.1 The potential impact of the development on the southern boundary wall has been 

investigated following concerns being raised within the public representations. The 

Applicant has confirmed that there are no works proposed directly to the wall, and the LPA 

has clearly confirmed to all parties that the wall is deemed to be curtilage listed and, 

therefore, any harm caused to the wall as a result of the development would be a criminal 

25



 

 
 

offence. Should any works be required to accommodate the proposed development, this 

would require a separate Listed Building Consent to be pursued.  

 

8.10.2 Similarly, queries have been raised regarding the Party Wall Act. This Act is a private civil 

matter and therefore is not a relevant material consideration for the Local Planning Authority 

in the determination of planning application.  

8.10.3 Further concerns have been raised in relation to the accuracy of the submitted application 

form; which states that there would be no disposal of hazardous waste. Interested parties 

have stated that this is inaccurate given that the proposal is an extension to the science 

block, which utilises hazardous materials as part of the use. In this case, it is noted that 

there are existing procedures in place for the disposal of waste generated by the school’s 

activities, and the proposed extension would not alter the implementation of these 

procedures.  

 

9 Crime and Disorder 
 

9.1 It is considered that the proposal would not result in any significant crime and disorder 

implications. 

 

10 Human Rights Implications 
 

10.1 Articles 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and home) 

of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this recommendation. It is 

considered that no relevant Article of that Act will be breached 

 

11 Planning Balance and Conclusions 
 

11.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 that the Local Planning 

Authority makes decisions in accordance with the adopted Development Plan, unless 

material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 

11.2 Sections 66 & 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

requires the Local Planning Authority to have special regard for the desirability of preserving 

listed buildings and Conservation Areas.  

 

11.3 In this case, the application proposals comprise the extension to the existing science block 

at Stamford Endowed School. Officer’s, including the Council’s Conservation Officer have 

reviewed that application proposals and conclude that they would not give rise to any harm 

to the setting or significance of the nearby listed buildings on St. Leonard’s Street or the 

surrounding Stamford Conservation Area. Therefore, the application proposals accord with 

the statutory requirements of Section 66 and 72 of the Act 1990, as well as Local Plan Policy 

EN6 and Neighbourhood Plan Policy 8.  

 

11.4 Similarly, it is Officers’ assessment that the application proposals would provide an 

acceptable design, massing, scale and appearance of development that would not result in 

any unacceptable visual impacts or harm to the character and appearance of the area.  

Furthermore, having regard to the proposed scheme and the separation distances between 

26



 

 
 

the proposed extension and the existing residential properties, the application proposals 

would not give rise to any unacceptable adverse impacts on neighbouring land uses, subject 

to the imposition of conditions.  

 

11.5 Taking the above into account, the application proposals would accord with the adopted 

Development Plan when taken as a whole, and there are no material considerations to 

indicate that planning permission should not be granted, although appropriate conditions 

are recommended.  

 

12 Recommendation 
 

12.1 To authorise the Assistant Director – Planning to GRANT planning permission, subject to 

the following list of conditions: 

 

Time Limit for Commencement 

 

1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission.  

 

Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out in 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).  

 

 Approved Plans 

 

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

list of approved plans: 

 

a. Site Location Plan re. P22009-ARC-00-00-DR-A-0001 received 4 October 2022 

b. Proposed Site Plan re. P22009-ARC-00-00-DR-A-2000 REV P2 received 14 

November 2022 

c. Proposed Elevation Plan re. P22009-ARC-00-00-DR-A-2101 received 4 October 

2022 

d. Proposed Ground Floor Plan re. P22009-ARC-00-01-DR-A-2001 received 4 

October 2022 

e. Proposed First Floor Plan re. P22009-ARC-00-02-DR-A-2002 received 4 October 

2022 

f. Proposed Second Floor Plan re. P22009-ARC-00-03-DR-A-2003 received 4 

October 2022 

 

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.  

 

Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt. 

 

 During Building Works 

 

 Materials Samples 

 

27



 

 
 

3) Before any works on the external elevations of the development hereby permitted is 

begun, samples of the materials (including colour of any render, paintwork or 

colourwash) to be used in the construction of the external surfaces shall have been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance 

with Policy DE1 and Policy EN6 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

 Tree Protection Measures 

 

4) Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, the Tree Protection Measures 

set out in the Tree Survey, Arboricultural Impact Assessment, Preliminary Arboricultural 

Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan (Hayden’s Arboricultural Consultants) 

(Dated 14 November 2021) and as shown on the Tree Protection Plan (Ref: 9752-D-

AIA) shall be implemented in full. Thereafter, the development must be carried out in 

accordance with the approved protection measures.  

 

Reason: Trees can make an important contribution to the character and quality of urban 

environments and can also help to mitigate and adapt to climate change, in accordance 

with Policy SD1, EN1, EN2 and DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

 Archaeological Works Compliance 

 

5) Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, the Archaeological 

Investigations shall have been completed in accordance with the Written Scheme of 

Investigation (APS Archaeological Services) (Dated December 2022) received by the 

Local Planning Authority on 13 December 2022.  

 

Reason: In order to provide a reasonable opportunity to record the history of the site and 

in accordance with Policy EN6 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan and Paragraph  

199 of the Framework.  

 

 Precautionary Contamination Condition 

 

6) Should the developer during excavation and construction works of the said development 

site find any area of the site where it is suspected that the land is contaminated then all 

works must stop, and the Local Planning Authority notified immediately. An investigation 

and risk assessment must be undertaken and where remediation is necessary, a 

remediation scheme must be prepared in accordance with current good practice and 

legislation and submitted an approved by the Local Planning Authority; and the approved 

remediation shall thereafter be implemented. Following completion of the measures 

identified in the approved remediation scheme, a verification report must be prepared, 

which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority.  

 

Reason: Previous activities associated with the site may have caused, or had the 

potential to cause, land contamination and to ensure that any site investigation and 

remediation will not cause pollution in the interests of the amenities of the future users 

of the development; and in accordance with Local Plan Policy EN4.  

 

28



 

 
 

 Obscure Glazing Details  

 

7) Prior to the installation of any external windows hereby permitted, a plan detailing the 

strategy for the obscure glazing of windows within the development shall have been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted plan 

shall indicate the windows that are to obscure glazed, the design / extent of the proposed 

glazing, the level of obscurity provided by the proposed glazing, and whether the relevant 

windows are to be fixed.  

 

Thereafter, the windows shall be installed in accordance with the approved details prior 

to first use of the approved extensions, and shall be retained as such in perpetuity.  

 

Reason: To safeguard the amenity / privacy of occupiers of the neighbouring residential 

properties.  

 

 Before the Development is Occupied 

 

Materials Implementation 

 

8) Before any part of the development hereby permitted is brought into use, the external 

surfaces shall have been completed in accordance with the approved details.  

 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance 

with Policy DE1 and EN6 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

 Replacement Tree Planting Implementation 

 

9) Before the end of the first planting / seeding season following first use of any part of the 

development hereby permitted, details of a soft landscaping scheme, including details of 

replacement tree planting to mitigate for the removal of existing trees as part of the 

development shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. Details shall include planting plans, written specifications (including cultivation and 

other operations associated with plant establishment) and schedule of plants (noting 

species, plant sizes and proposed numbers as appropriate). Thereafter, all soft landscaping 

works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details by the end of the 

subsequent planting season.  

 

Reason: Trees can make an important contribution to the character and quality of urban 

environments and can also help to mitigate and adapt to climate change, in accordance 

with Policy SD1, EN1, EN2 and DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan. 

 

 Ongoing Conditions 

 

 Soft Landscaping 

 

1) Within a period of five years from the first use of the development hereby permitted, any 

trees or plants provided as part of the approved replacement tree planting scheme, that 

die or become, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, seriously damaged or 

defective, shall be replaced in the first planting season following any such loss, with a 

29



 

 
 

specimen of the same size and species as was approved in Condition 9 above, unless 

otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 

Reason: To ensure the provision, establishment and maintenance of a reasonable 

standard of landscaping in accordance with Policy DE1 and EN2 of the adopted South 

Kesteven Local Plan 

 

 Standard Note(s) to Applicant 

 

1) In reaching the decision, the Council has worked with the applicant in a positive and 

proactive manner by determining the application without undue delay. As such it is 

considered that the decision is in accordance with Paragraph 38 of the National Planning 

Policy Framework (2021). 

 

2) All wild birds, nests and other protected species are protected under the Wildlife & 

Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). The grant of planning permission does not 

override the above Act. All applicants and sub-contractors are reminded that persons 

undertaking site works during nesting season may risk committing an offence under 

the above Act and may be liable to prosecution. The Council will pass complaints 

received about such work to the appropriate authorities for investigation. The Local 

Authority advises that such work should be scheduled for the period 1 September-28 

February wherever possible. Otherwise, a qualified ecologist should make a careful 

check before work begins.  

 

3) Please note that this grant of planning permission does not override any civil legal 

matters relating to the Party Wall Act or legal covenants, issues on which you should 

seek independent legal advice. 

 

30



 

 
 

Site Location Plan 

 

31



 

 
 

Proposed Site Plan 

 

32



 

 
 

Proposed Elevations 

 

33



 

 
 

Proposed Ground Floor Plan 

 

34



 

 
 

Proposed First Floor Plan 

 

35



 

 
 

Proposed Second Floor Plan 

 

 

36



 

 
 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable 

 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable 

 

37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Planning Committee 

2 February 2023 

  

   

         
  

S22/1828 

Proposal: Siting of residential log cabin structure to be occupied in connection with 
petting farm use  

Location: Tiny Steps Petting Farm, Park Wood Road, Thurlby, PE10 0EL 
Applicant: Mrs Tracey Hall 
Agent: Mr Mike Sibthorp, Mike Sibthorp Planning 
Application Type: Full Planning Permission 

 
Reason for Referral 
to Committee: 

Application called in by Councillor Barry Dobson in support of the 
principle of the development 
 

Key Issues: Principle of Development 
Impact on the character and appearance of the area 
Impact on neighbouring land uses 
 

Technical 
Documents: 

Planning Statement 
Essential Need Case – comprised of the following documents:  

• Addendum to Planning Statement  

• Monthly Expenditure Information 

• Monthly Sales Information 

• Business Plan 

• Additional Breeding Information 

• Response to Independent Assessment 
 

 

Report Author 

Adam Murray – Principal Development Management Planner 

 
 01476 406080 

  Adam.Murray@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Growth Regulatory Dole Wood 

 

Reviewed by: Phil Jordan – Development Management Manager 23 January 2023 

39

Agenda Item 5

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

To authorise the Assistant Director – Planning to REFUSE planning permission 

40



 

 
 

S22/1828 – Tiny Steps Petting Farm, Park Wood Road, Thurlby  

  

41



 

 
 

1 Description of Site 
 

1.1 The application site comprises an area of approximately 0.10 hectares (0.24 acres) of 

broadly rectangular land situated to the west of Park Wood Road; approximately 0.5 miles 

to the south of the main built-up area of the village of Thurlby. The private access road is 

accessed via the A15, which runs north-south to the east of the site, beyond Park Wood, 

and connects Thurlby to the larger settlements of Bourne and Market Deeping.  

 

1.2 The site comprises part of the Tiny Steps Petting Farm, which is a community-based leisure 

operation which provides close contact animal experiences for children. The Petting Farm 

use is understood to have commenced in June 2021, and retrospective planning permission 

was granted in January 2022 (LPA Ref: S21/1546).  

 

1.3 The Petting Farm has an overall site area of approximately 1.5 hectares (3.7 acres) and 

includes a small barn structure, stables, a menage area, and a static caravan (which is 

understood to be used as a restroom facility) as well as several field shelters and sheds. 

The barn structure along the north boundary of the site is used for housing some of the 

animals and is the main petting location of the business, in front of this building is an area 

of hardstanding which is used for vehicular parking. To the south, backing onto Park Wood 

Road is timber stable building which is also used to house some of the petting animals, and 

a compound used to house chickens. The remainder of the site consists of the paddocks 

and enclosures, which contain the remainder of the animals; the different animals are 

separated into each enclosure and there is a fenced walkway through the centre of the site 

which provides a viewing area. The opening hours of the Petting Farm and the total number 

of visitors per day are restricted by planning condition; which limits the operation to 4 visiting 

groups per hour. 

 

1.4 The site is bound to the east by Park Wood Road, beyond which lies Park Wood, a 

designated Ancient Woodland and Local Wildlife Site; it is bound to the north and south by 

existing agricultural landholdings, including agricultural dwellings associated with those 

uses; and to the west by further undeveloped, grassland, which forms part of the Open 

Countryside. The site benefits from clearly defined boundaries on all sides marked by a 

mixture of post and rail fencing and post and wire fencing.  

 

1.5 As referenced above, the site is located outside of the main built-up area of an existing 

settlement within the District – the nearest settlement is Thurlby, which is located 

approximately 0.5 miles to the north of the site – and, therefore, the site falls to be defined 

as being located within the Open Countryside. The site is not subject to any further planning 

policy constraints. However, Park Wood, to the east of the site, is a designated Ancient 

Woodland and Local Wildlife Site.  

 

1.6 Furthermore, it is noted that the site has been the subject of a number of recent planning 

applications for the use of the land as a Petting Farm. Planning permission was originally 

granted in January 2022 for the use of the land as a petting farm (Ref; S21/1546), and it is 

noted that this application did originally include proposals for the siting of a residential log 

cabin to be occupied in connection with the business use. This element of the application 

was subsequently removed following the receipt of an independent assessment of the need 

for residential accommodation on-site, which indicated that there was only a marginal case 

42



 

 
 

for a dwelling to be provided. Subsequently, a further planning permission has been granted 

(Ref: S22/1829) for the use of the site as a petting farm, which sought to regularise some 

inaccuracies between the original planning permission and the manner in which the site was 

being operated.  

 

2 Description of proposal 
 

2.1 The current planning application seeks full planning permission for the siting of a residential 

log cabin to be occupied in connection with the petting farm use.  

 

2.2 The current application has been accompanied by a Proposed Block Plan and Proposed 

Log Cabin Elevation and Floor Plans, which indicate that the development would consist of 

the following:  

 

2.3 The application proposes the siting of a 4-bedroom timber-clad, log cabin structure which is 

proposed to be occupied in connection with the operation of the approved Petting Farm. It 

is argued that there is an essential need for a full-time on-site presence and, therefore, 

formal residential accommodation, for animal welfare reasons and security purposes.  

 

2.4 The proposed timber cabin structure is proposed to be sited at the northern end of the site, 

in a similar location to the existing static caravan at the site, which is positioned between 

the barn structure and the former menage area. Access to the proposed log cabin would be 

via the existing vehicular access from Park Wood Road, which is utilised as part of the 

operation of the Petting Farm.  

 

2.5 The proposed timber log cabin would be a single storey structure and would measure 19.6m 

long by 6.42m wide, and is rectangular in shape and has a shallow pitched roof, as well as 

an additional wrap-around verandah positioned at the eastern and south-eastern end of the 

raised structure.  

 

2.6 The submitted application form indicates that surface water drainage from the site would be 

managed via soakaway, whilst foul water drainage would be managed via a septic tank.  

 

3 Relevant History 
 

Reference Proposal Decision 
S21/1546 Change of use to provide a community based leisure 

business (including a variety of miniature farm animals) 
(Use Class F2c) 

Approved Conditionally 
31.01.2021 

S22/1829 Change of Use of land as petting farm (Use Class F2c) 
(revised submission following planning permission 
S21/1546) 

Approved Conditionally  
12.01.2023 

 

4 Policy Considerations 
 

4.1 South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (Adopted January 2020) 

Policy SD1 – The Principles of Sustainable Development in South Kesteven 

Policy SP1 – Spatial Strategy 

43



 

 
 

Policy SP2 – Settlement Hierarchy 

Policy SP5 – Development in the Open Countryside 

Policy E7 – Rural Economy 

Policy EN1 – Landscape Character 

Policy EN2 – Protecting Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

Policy EN3 – Green Infrastructure  

Policy EN4 – Pollution Control  

Policy EN5 – Water Environment and Flood Risk Management  

Policy DE1 – Promoting Good Quality Design 

Policy SB1 – Sustainable Building 

Policy ID2 – Transport and Strategic Transport Infrastructure  

 

4.2 Thurlby Neighbourhood Development Plan (Made March 2019) 

Policy TNP01 – Respecting the Distinctive Landscape Character and Biodiversity 

Policy TNP05 – Nature Conservation and Improvement of the Environment in the 

Countryside 

Policy TNP11 – Design and Local Character 

 

4.3 Design Guidelines for South Kesteven Supplementary Planning Document (Adopted 

November 2021) 

 

4.4 National Planning Policy Framework (Adopted July 2021) 

Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development  

Section 4 – Decision-making 

Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 

Section 9 – Promoting sustainable transport 

Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places 

Section 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 

Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

 

4.5 National Planning Practice Guidance 

Section 67 – Rural Housing  

 

5 Representations Received 
 

5.1 Forestry Commission 

5.1.1 No comments received 

 

5.2 Historic England 

5.2.1 No comments to make 

 

5.3 Lincolnshire County Council (Highways and SuDS) 

5.3.1 No objections.  

 

5.4 SKDC Environmental Protection  

5.4.1 No comments to make.  

 

5.5 Thurlby Parish Council  

44



 

 
 

5.5.1 Neutral  

 

5.5.2 The application states that the residential log cabin structure is in connection with the petting 

farm. Questions whether the structure is necessary or appropriate.  

 

5.5.3 Request for conditions restricting occupation of the residential accommodation to be linked 

to the business. 

 

5.5.4 Further information needed about the septic tank arrangements 

 

5.5.5 Further clarity required about the scale of the development.  

 

5.6 Kernon Agricultural Consultants (Independent Review of Essential Need) – Full 

Report at Appendix 1  

5.6.1 Typically, the main rationale for farm businesses to have an essential need to live on site 

relates primarily to the animal’s welfare needs and whether the only way the needs can be 

met are by living on site. Whilst security is a relevant consideration, it is not the primary 

reason to justify the essential need to live on site.  

 

5.6.2 In terms of breeding operations at the site, this has increased slightly since our previous 

assessment. However, with  breeding occurring over a relatively condensed period of time 

and the small number of animals living on site, it remains our view that the need to live on 

site is very marginal. Whilst is has been argued that a number of incidences have occurred 

at the farm that could have been prevented if there was an on-site presence, it is not entirely 

clear that this is the case. Breeding requires a site worker to be on hand at most times, 

however, injuries at night are more difficult to prevent. Regular checks could still be made 

when living a short distance away.  

 

5.6.3 The number of animals kept on site is, in our opinion, not significant and the management 

of the enterprise is not considered to be overly complex in terms of welfare needs. The 

addition of breeding increases the need to live on site but given that breeding is set to occur 

over a condensed period of time, periods of stronger need to live on site are limited. On this 

scale, the protection of livestock from theft or injury is not great enough for us to conclude 

otherwise.  

 

5.6.4 The financial information provided does not show the levels of profit we would expect to 

conclude that the business is viable or likely to become viable. The business would not be 

capable of providing a reasonable return on labour for a single site manager, regardless of 

whether other employees are volunteers. We are also concerned that missing costs which 

have the potential to further reduce income considerably. This in turn raises concerns as to 

the affordability of a temporary dwelling.  

 

6 Representations as a Result of Publicity 
 

6.1 The application has been advertised in accordance with the Council’s Statement of 

Community Involvement and 2 letters of representation have been received, both of which 

have raised objection to the application proposals. The representations received have 

raised the following material planning considerations:  

45



 

 
 

1. Objection to the principle of residential accommodation on site – it is stated 

that there is no breeding programme on site with  all animals having been 

purchased.  

 

7 Evaluation 
 

7.1 Section 38(6)of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the Local 

Planning Authority makes decisions in accordance with the adopted Development Plan, 

unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In this case, the Development Plan 

comprises of the following documents:  

 

1. South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (Adopted January 2020); and  

2. Thurlby Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan (Made March 2019).  

 

7.2 The Local Planning Authority have also adopted a Design Guidelines Supplementary 

Planning Document (Adopted November 2021) and this document is a material 

consideration in the determination of all planning applications.  

 

7.3 In addition, the policies and provisions set out in the National Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF) (“the Framework”) (Adopted July 2021) are also a relevant material consideration 

in the determination of planning applications.  

 

7.4 Principle of Development 

 

7.4.1 As identified above, it is noted that representations received from Thurlby Parish Council 

have questioned the necessity for a residential log cabin structure at the site; whilst public 

representations have objected to the application on the basis that there is no functional need 

for a dwelling due to the absence of an active breeding programme.  

 

7.4.2 In respect of the above, Local Plan Policy SP1 (Spatial Strategy) outlines the overall spatial 

strategy for the District during the plan period, in particular the focus for the majority of 

growth is in and around the four market towns with Grantham being a particular focal point 

for development. In connection with the above, decisions about the location and scale of 

new development will be taken on the basis of the settlement hierarchy.  

 

7.4.3 As noted, by virtue of the site’s location outside of the main built-up area of an existing 

settlement – the nearest one being Thurlby which is approximately 0.5 miles to the north – 

the site falls to be defined as being within the Open Countryside. Policy SP5 (Development 

in the Open Countryside) is the principal spatial policy of the Development Plan in respect 

of such locations.  It identifies that development within the Open Countryside will be limited 

to that which has an essential need to be located outside of the existing built form of a 

settlement. The policy goes on to identify a series of exceptions, whereby development in 

the Countryside is considered to be acceptable in principle, including: 

 

(a) Agriculture, forestry or equine development  

(b) Rural diversification projects 

(c) Replacement dwellings (on a one-for-one basis); or 

46



 

 
 

(d) Conversion of buildings, provided that the existing building(s) contributes to the 

character and appearance of the local area by virtue of their historic, traditional or 

vernacular form; and  

(e) Are in sound structural condition; and 

(f) Are suitable for conversion without substantial alteration, extension, or rebuilding, 

and that the works to be undertaken do not detract from the character of the 

building(s) and their setting.  

 

7.4.4 In the context of the above, the proposed development scheme would involve the siting of 

a timber log cabin for residential purposes on land situated within the Open Countryside. 

The proposed dwelling would not be a replacement dwelling nor would the dwelling be the 

result of the conversion of any existing buildings on site. As such, the proposed development 

scheme would be contrary to Policy SP5 of the adopted Local Plan.  

 

7.4.5 Notwithstanding the above, Paragraph 80 of the National Planning Policy Framework 

provides further guidance in relation to the development of dwellings within the countryside. 

It states that “Planning policies and decisions should avoid the development of isolated 

homes in the countryside, unless one or more of the following circumstances apply:  

 

(a) There is an essential need for a rural worker, including those taking majority control 

of a farm business, to live permanently at or near their place of work in the 

countryside 

(b) The development would represent the optimal viable use of a heritage asset or 

would be appropriate enabling development to secure the future of heritage assets 

(c) The development would re-use redundant or disused buildings and enhance its 

immediate setting.  

(d) The development would involve the subdivision of an existing residential building; 

or 

(e) The design is of truly exceptional quality, in that it:  

1. Is truly outstanding, reflecting the highest standards in architecture, and 

would help to raise the standards of design more generally in rural areas; 

and  

2. Would significantly enhance its immediate setting, and be sensitive to the 

defining characteristics of the local area”.  

 

7.4.6 Furthermore, it is appreciated that the proposed residential accommodation is to be 

occupied in connection with the existing, consented Petting Farm business. As such, the 

application scheme also falls to be assessed in the context of Policy E7 (Rural Economy), 

which supports proposals for rural enterprise and tourism, such as the approved Petting 

Farm. It states that “any new building or extension to an existing building will only be 

permitted where it is clearly demonstrated that it is an essential element of the business 

proposal. The scale, design and construction of any new building or extension must be 

appropriate to its rural setting and fully justified by the business proposals”.   

 

7.4.7 In this case, the application submission states that the proposed residential timber log cabin 

is an essential requirement for the ongoing operation of the Petting Farm for animal welfare 

and security purposes, and as such, the proposed accommodation falls to be assessed as 

a rural workers dwelling under the provisions of Paragraph 80 of the NPPF.  

47



 

 
 

7.4.8 In connection with the above, Section 67 Paragraph 10 of the Planning Practice Guidance 

sets out guidance on how the essential need for a rural workers dwelling in the countryside 

can be assessed. It identifies that the following considerations may be relevant:  

 

(a) Evidence of the necessity for a rural worker to live at, or in close proximity to, their 

place of work to ensure the effective operation of an agricultural, forestry or similar 

land-based rural enterprise (for instance, where farm animals or agricultural 

processes require on-site attention 24-hours a day and where otherwise there 

would be a risk to human or animal health, or from crime, or to deal quickly with 

emergencies that could cause serious loss of crops of products) 

(b) The degree to which there is confidence that the enterprise will remain viable for 

the foreseeable future.  

(c) Whether the need could be met through improvements to existing accommodation 

on the site, providing such improvements are appropriate taking into account their 

scale, appearance and local context; and  

(d) In the case of new enterprises, whether it is appropriate to consider granting 

permission for a temporary dwelling for a trial period.  

 

7.4.9 The application submission includes a Planning Statement (Mike Sibthorp Planning) 

(September 2022). Paragraphs 27 to 43 sets out the Applicant’s case for the essential need 

for a rural workers’ dwelling on the site, which can be summarised as follows:  

 

(a)  When planning permission was sought for the petting farm use, the application 

also sought consent for the sitting of a log cabin type structure to be occupied in 

connection with the use. During the life of that application, the Council Officers 

advised that there was not considered to be a functional need justification for the 

residential accommodation, albeit there was a reasonable financial justification for 

a temporary mobile home.  

(b) It is considered that since the earlier submission, the range and diversity of the 

livestock has increased, that provides further justification for the dwelling.  

(c) The applicants are also in the process of purchasing 2(no) Golden Guernsey nanny 

kids for a breeding programme, as well as being able to produce cheese and 

specialist soaps. The anticipation is that the amount and number of animals kept 

at the site will increase as breeding – particularly pygmy goats develops. Surplus 

males will be sold and this will allow the purchase of new animals.  

(d) Moreover, there have been a number of further security incidents that have arisen, 

which reinforce the need for an on-site security presence at all times. 

(e) The majority of these incidents relate to the health and well-being of the livestock. 

The absence of any overnight, onsite supervision inevitably had an impact. An on-

site presence would have enabled a more immediate response to medical 

emergencies, reduced distress, and suffering to the animals, and possibly have 

avoided less.  

(f) Regrettably, some of the incidents that have been noted point towards site trespass 

and wilful damage and acts. There are several incidents where animals have 

escaped or disappeared from their enclosures and there is a reasonable suspicion 

that some of these events were malicious. In this respect, security and animal 

welfare considerations are completely intertwined and there are very compelling 

security consideration in this case that lend support for on-site accommodation.  

48



 

 
 

(g) There is some CCTV coverage at the site. However, even with several cameras, 

this technology does not provide good coverage of all the areas where animals are 

kept. Consequently, this technology does not guarantee the welfare of the animals 

within the applicant’s control. 

(h) These circumstances are sufficient in our view to satisfy the functional test. It is 

considered that the changes in circumstances since the submission of the previous 

application – both in terms of stocking changes and security issues – represent 

material changes that now tip the balance of consideration in favour of on-site 

provision.  

 

7.4.10 Given the specialist nature of an essential need assessment, the Local Planning Authority 

commissioned an independent agricultural consultant (Kernon Agricultural Consultants) to 

undertake a review of the evidence submitted by the Applicant. An initial review was 

undertaken and the Applicant was invited to submit further information including a timeline 

outlining the breeding operations that are proposed and a business plan taking into 

consideration the operation of the business to date. The Applicant subsequently confirmed 

that there would be a goat breeding programme with the estimated birth period in July; and 

also submitted a Business Plan and additional financial information. Furthermore, during the 

course of the application the Applicant also reported further incidents of animal welfare and 

security breaches; this information was passed on to the independent consultant for their 

consideration as part of the review.  

 

7.4.11 A full copy of the completed independent review by Kernon Agricultural Consultants is 

enclosed at Appendix 1. In short, the conclusions of this report are as follows:  

 

(a) Typically, the man rationale for farm businesses to have an essential need to live 

on site relates primarily to the animal’s welfare needs and whether the only way 

the needs can be met are by living on site. Whilst security is a relevant 

consideration, it is not the primary reason to justify the essential need to live on 

site.  

(b) It is evidenced in the information provided that the rarer breeds of animals attract 

unwanted attention by members of the public which have led to several incidences 

which has jeopardised the animal’s welfare. Living on site will act as a deterrent, 

however, security is not the primary consideration when justifying the need to live 

on site.  

(c) In terms of breeding operations at the site, this has increased slightly since our last 

assessment. Additional information provided by the Applicant’s detailed that 3 

nanny goats are to go to a pygmy billy goat this year, with the billy goat to return to 

another 4 female goats in February of next year. With a gestation period of around 

150 days, this will therefore lead to 3 goats giving birth in April next year, and 

another 4 to give birth in July 2023. The relatively condensed breeding period will 

only give rise to a need to live on site for a few weeks of the year, as ideally 

someone should be on site to closely monitor the animals and call for veterinary 

assistance if required. 

(d) However, with breeding occurring over a relatively condensed period of time and 

the small number of animals living on site, it remains our view that the need to live 

on site is very marginal. Whilst it has been argued within the information provided 

that a number of incidences have occurred at the farm that could have been 

prevented if there was an onsite presence, it is not entirely clear that this is the 

49



 

 
 

case. Breeding requires a site worker to be on hand at most times, however, 

injuries at night are more difficult to prevent. Regular checks could still be made 

when living a short distance away.  

(e) Based on the application form, it is understood that the Applicant lives just a 5 

minute drive from the site. Whilst not within sight and sound of the livestock, this 

makes it relatively easy to undertake checks of livestock in the early morning and 

late evening.  

(f) The financial information provided does not show the levels of profit we would 

expect in order to conclude that the business is viable or likely to become viable. 

The business would not be capable of providing a reasonable return on labour for 

a single site manager, regardless of whether other employees are volunteers. We 

are also concerned over missing costs which have the potential to reduce income 

considerably. This in turn raises concerns as to the affordability of a temporary 

dwelling.  

 

7.4.12 Following receipt of the completed report, the Applicant was invited to submit any further 

evidence that may alter the conclusions of the independent assessment. The Applicant 

subsequently submitted a rebuttal statement indicating:  

 

(a) The breeding programme is expected to increase the stocking levels at the farm 

quite significantly. The anticipation is that within the next 12 months, the breeding 

programme will produce at least 10 kids and that this will increase the need for an 

ongoing site presence at the site.  

(b) Whilst we have not made any reference to this in the application, the intention is 

that any on-site accommodation would also be able to offer overnight bed and 

breakfast tourist accommodation.  

(c) The security issues, which are quite clearly frequent, malicious and targeted, differ 

quite significantly from more general security concerns about speculative security 

incidents and represent a significant animal welfare risk. That risk would be 

significantly reduced by an on-site presence. It is considered in this case that the 

sucre issues are of such a magnitude that they may reasonably be seen to tip the 

balance of functional need considerations in favour of the proposals.  

 

7.4.13 Officers’ have subsequently consulted within the independent consultant on the rebuttal 

statement, and the consultee has confirmed that their advice remains unchanged from the 

initial report.  

 

7.4.14 Taking the above into account, it is Officers’ assessment that the results of the independent 

review confirm that the functional need for rural workers dwelling on site is marginal; with 

the evidence indicating that the need only occurs during periods of breeding. Given that this 

breeding period requirement would be a short-term, seasonal requirement, it is Officers’ 

assessment that this need could be appropriately met through the seasonal siting of a 

caravan, which can be carried out using permitted development rights, and does not justify 

the siting of a residential log-cabin year round. The assessment confirms that the day-to-

day operational and security needs of the business could be appropriately met by an 

employee living within a short distance of the site and, therefore, this need could potentially 

be met by residential accommodation within Thurlby, which is identified as an appropriate 

location for residential uses. As such, it is Officers’ conclusions that there is not an essential, 

functional need for a rural worker to live at the site.  

50



 

 
 

7.4.15 Whilst the independent review has confirmed that any functional need for the site could only 

be met through the provision of a new building, and that the proposed log cabin would be 

proportionate to any identified need, these conclusions do not override the in principle 

assessment that there is only a marginal functional need for a dwelling.  

 

7.4.16 Consequently, the application scheme proposes the siting of a residential dwelling within 

the open countryside to be occupied in connection with the existing Petting Farm business. 

However, on the basis of the evidence provided as part of the application, it is concluded 

that there is no clear essential need for a rural workers dwelling to be provided on site in 

order to support the Petting Farm business operations. As such, the application proposals 

do not fall to be defined as exceptional form of residential development in the open 

countryside, and therefore the proposals are contrary to Policy SP5 and E7 of the adopted 

South Kesteven Local Plan, and Paragraph 80 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 

7.5 Impact on the character and appearance of the area 

 

7.5.1 It is appreciated that there have been no objections raised to the impact of the proposed log 

cabin on the character and appearance of the area.  

 

7.5.2 In assessing the appropriateness of the proposed development for the character and 

appearance of the area, it is appreciated that the proposed development would entail the 

provision of a single, timber log cabin structure at the northern end of the site situated 

immediately to the south of the timber clad barn structure, and to the north of the former 

menage, which is now used as a children’s play area as part of the Petting Farm’s 

operations. The proposed cabin would be a single storey structure with a shallow pitched 

roof and have a gross internal floor area of approximately 120 sq. metres.  

 

7.5.3 In this respect, it is appreciated that the application site would be viewed within the context 

of its Open Countryside location, as well as the existing structures and sheds positioned 

within the Petting Farm site. Thus, in assessing the scheme within this context, Officer’s 

consider that the proposed log cabin would be appropriately positioned within the site to 

ensure that it assimilates with the existing character and streetscene; views of the proposed 

log cabin would be primarily from public vantage points to the east of the site from Park 

Wood Road, and in this view, the proposed cabin would be seen in the context of the existing 

timber clad barn immediately to the north.  

 

7.5.4 In taking the above into account, it is Officers’ assessment that the scale, design and 

materiality of the proposed holiday lodge is appropriate for its rural context, and would also 

be appropriate in respect of any functional need for a rural workers dwelling on the site.  

 

7.5.5 Consequently, it is Officers’ position that the application proposals are of an appropriate 

design, scale, massing, and appearance when viewed in the context of the existing site 

characteristics and the surrounding built-form. As such, the application proposals would 

appropriately assimilate into the existing streetscene and would not give rise to any 

unacceptable impacts on the character and appearance of the area. Thus, the application 

proposals would accord with the principles of Policy E7, DE1 and EN1 of the adopted South 

Kesteven Local Plan; Policy TNP01 and TNP11 of the made Thurlby Neighbourhood Plan, 

51



 

 
 

the Design Guidelines SPD, and Section 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework in 

this regard.  

 

7.6 Impact on neighbouring properties 

 

7.6.1 Similar to the above, it is also noted that no objections or public representations have been 

received in relation to the potential impact of the proposed residential accommodation on 

the level of residential amenity afforded to the existing neighbouring properties.  

 

7.6.2 In assessing the potential impact of the development on the level of privacy afforded to the 

occupants of the existing agricultural residences to the north and south of the site, it is noted 

that these properties are separated from the boundaries of the Petting Farm by a minimum 

of 50 metres. As such, it is Officer’s assessment that there is an appropriate level of 

separation between the site and the existing properties to ensure that these residential uses 

benefit from a suitable level of privacy.  

 

7.6.3 Likewise, it is also appropriate that the proposed log cabin is to be sited to the south of the 

existing timber clad barn, which is equivalent to two-storey residential scale, and therefore 

would screen the proposed cabin from the residential property to the north. Whilst the 

residential property to the south would also be screened by the existing boundary 

treatments, including a dense tree line. 

 

7.6.4 Whilst the full-time occupation of the proposed residential accommodation may give rise to 

additional levels of noise and light pollution, as the use of the site would extend beyond the 

current hours of operation of the Petting Farm, it is Officers’ assessment that the scale of 

the proposed log cabin would be relatively limited, and therefore, levels of noise and light 

pollution generated by its occupation would be minimal, and would not detract from the 

amenity and / or character of the rural context.  

 

7.6.5 In relation to the level of residential amenity afforded to future occupants of the proposed 

log cabin, it is appreciated that the submitted Site Layout does not indicate the provision of 

any dedicated private amenity space for the proposed cabin. However, it is noted that the 

log cabin would feature a wrap-around veranadah on the eastern and southern side, which 

would provide future occupants with a suitable outdoor recreational space. As such, it is 

Officer’s assessment that the scheme would provide suitable amenity space to serve the 

needs of the future occupants.  

 

7.6.6 Taking all of the above into account, it is concluded that the proposed siting of a residential 

log cabin would not have any unacceptable adverse impacts on neighbouring land uses, 

and would secure an appropriate level of amenity for existing and future occupants. As such, 

the application proposals would be in accordance with Policy E7, DE1 and EN4 of the 

adopted South Kesteven Local Plan, Policy TNP04 of the Thurlby Neighbourhood Plan, the 

Design Guidelines SPD, and Section 12 of the Framework in this respect.  

 

7.7 Ecology and Biodiversity  

 

52



 

 
 

7.7.1 As previously identified, the application site is not specifically subject to any planning policy 

designations. However, Park Wood, which is located to the east of the site beyond Park 

Wood Road, is designated as a Local Wildlife Site and Ancient Woodland.  

 

7.7.2 As part of the planning permission for the use of the site as a Petting Farm, conditions were 

imposed which required the submission and approval of a Biodiversity Mitigation and 

Enhancement Plan, based on the recommendations of the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 

submitted as part of the original application. The Applicant subsequently submitted details 

of the Mitigation and Enhancement Plan, which were approved under application ref: 

S22/0650. As such, it is Officers’ assessment that compliance with the previously approved 

details, which could be secured via planning condition, would be sufficient to ensure that the 

scheme does not give rise to any unacceptable adverse impacts on biodiversity and 

ecology.  

 

7.7.3 Notwithstanding the above, the Forestry Commission have been consulted on the 

application proposals in relation to the potential impact of the development on Park Wood; 

however, they have declined to provide any comments. Notwithstanding this, it is noted that 

the Government guidance for protecting ancient woodland is to have a minimum 15 metre 

buffer before an ancient woodland and a development. In this case, the siting of the 

proposed log cabin would be positioned approximately 32 metres away from the western 

edge of Park Wood, and therefore, would accord with the identified guidance. In any event, 

it is appreciated that the proposed log cabin would be sited on an existing area of 

hardstanding, and would not entail the piling of any foundations and / or a concrete pad and, 

therefore, does not involve any engineering operations which may otherwise give rise to 

adverse impacts on the woodland.  

 

7.7.4 Taking the above into account, subject to the imposition of conditions requiring compliance 

with the previously approved Biodiversity Mitigation and Enhancement Plan relating to the 

wider Petting Farm operations, the application proposals would accord with the 

requirements of Policy E7 and EN2 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan, Policy 

TNP05 of the made Thurlby Neighbourhood Plan, and Section 14 of the Framework in 

respect of ecology and biodiversity.  

 

7.8 Access and Highways Impacts 

 

7.8.1 As previously identified, the current application proposals would utilise the existing access 

and parking arrangements available as part of the operation of the Petting Farm. Similarly, 

whilst the proposals would involve residential occupation of the site, the proposed residential 

accommodation would be occupied in connection with  the existing Petting Farm, and 

therefore, any vehicular movements generated by occupants of the dwelling are likely to be 

existing movements associated with the operation of the business.  

 

7.8.2 In any event, it is appreciated that the proposed occupation of a 4-bed timber cabin is 

unlikely to give rise to any significant impacts on the local highways safety and / or capacity, 

when considered in the context of the approved operations at the site.  

 

53



 

 
 

7.8.3 Notwithstanding the above, Lincolnshire County Council (as Local Highways Authority) have 

been consulted on the application proposals and have confirmed that they have no 

objections.  

 

7.8.4 Taking the above into account, the proposals would not give rise to any unacceptable 

adverse impacts on highway safety and / or capacity, and would provide an appropriate 

level of parking. As such, the application proposals would be in accordance with Policy E7 

and ID2 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan and Section 9 of the Framework in this 

regard  

 

7.9 Flood Risk and Drainage Infrastructure 

 

7.9.1 In relation to matters of flood risk and drainage, it is noted that representations received 

from Thurlby Parish Council have raised concerns about the use of a septic tank. In 

particular, they have indicated that there is insufficient information about where any such 

tank would be located and any arrangements for discharging of foul drainage.  

 

7.9.2 In respect of the above, Officers acknowledge that there is limited information available as 

part of the current application in relation to foul drainage. However, in the event that the 

development was acceptable in all other respects, further details of foul drainage 

arrangements, including the proposed discharge arrangements. 

 

7.9.3 With regards to surface water drainage, the application site is located with Flood Zone 1 of 

the Flood Map for Planning, and is also identified as being at very low risk of surface water 

flooding.  

 

7.9.4 The current application proposals would involve the siting of a log cabin on an existing area 

of hardstanding, and as such, would not increase the overall impermeable area on site.  

 

7.9.5 Taking the above into account, it is concluded that the application site is not at risk of 

flooding, and subject to conditions, the proposed development would not give rise to any 

increased risk of flooding to neighbouring properties.  

 

7.9.6 Lincolnshire County Council (as Lead Local Flood Authority) have been consulted on the 

application scheme. However, given that the proposal is a minor development, they are not 

required to provide any drainage comments.  

 

7.9.7 Notwithstanding the above, subject to the imposition of conditions requiring further details 

of foul water drainage, it is concluded that the application proposals would not give rise to 

any unacceptable risk of flooding and, therefore, would accord with Policy EN5 of the 

adopted Local Plan and Section 14 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 

7.10 Climate Change 

 

7.10.1 In relation to the Local Plan policy requirements on climate change, it is appreciated that the 

application site is located within an area identified as Open Countryside and, therefore, 

would not accord with Policy SD1’s locational requirements, which seeks to direct 

development towards the more sustainable settlements of the District.  

54



 

 
 

7.10.2 In addition, it is also noted that the application scheme fails to provide any information as to 

how the proposed residential accommodation would accord with the requirements of Local 

Plan Policy SB1 on sustainable buildings, such as details in relation to sustainable 

construction, water efficiency and electric vehicle charging points. However, it is Officers 

assessment that, in the event that the application were to be recommended for refusal, 

additional details of sustainable building measures could be secured through the imposition 

of conditions. 

 

7.10.3 Consequently, subject to the imposition of conditions, the proposals would be in accordance 

with the overarching principles of Policy SB1 and SD1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local 

Plan.  

 

8 Crime and Disorder 
 

8.1 As previously identified, it is appreciated that the application proposals in this case relate to 

the siting of a residential log cabin in association with the existing Petting Farm use. As part 

of the application submission seeking to justify the essential, functional need for a rural 

workers dwelling at the site, the Applicant has referenced a number of incidents of security 

breaches at the site, which have resulted in harm to the animal’s welfare and safety.  

 

8.2 In assessing the functional need for a rural workers dwelling, the Local Planning Authority 

have had regard for the potential impact of the siting of a residential log cabin at the site, 

and thus a permanent on-site presence, in reducing / mitigating the potential continuation 

of the identified security breaches. However, in accordance with the Planning Practice 

Guidance, security considerations are not to be used as the primary consideration for a rural 

workers dwelling. Similarly, the LPA’s independent consultant has reviewed the details 

provided and has raised queries as to whether a permanent on-site presence would have 

avoided to aforementioned security breaches.  

 

8.3 Thus, whilst the Local Planning Authority is sympathetic to the Applicant’s security concerns, 

it is concluded that the provision of a rural workers dwelling at the site would not be 

appropriate to address these issues.  

 

8.4 As such, it is concluded that in making this recommendation there would not be any 

significant crime and disorder implications.  
 

9 Human Rights Implications 
 

9.1 Articles 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and home) 

of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this recommendation. It is 

considered that no relevant Article of that Act will be breached 

 

10 Planning Balance and Conclusions 
 

10.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 that the Local Planning 

Authority makes decisions in accordance with the adopted Development Plan, unless 

material considerations indicate otherwise. 

55



 

 
 

10.2 The application proposals seek full planning permission for the siting of a residential log 

cabin in connection with the approved Petting Farm operations at Tiny Steps Petting Farm. 

The proposed development would involve the siting of a residential dwelling on land situated 

within the Open Countryside; the proposed residential accommodation would not be a 

replacement dwelling nor would the dwelling be the result of the conversion of any existing 

buildings on the site. As such, the proposals are contrary to Policy SP5 of the adopted Local 

Plan.  

 

10.3 Notwithstanding the above, Paragraph 80 of the National Planning Policy Framework does 

support the provision of dwellings within the Countryside, where there is an essential need 

for a rural worker to live at or near to their place of work. In this case, the proposed log cabin 

is to be occupied in connection with the operation of the Petting Farm, and the Applicant 

has submitted evidence which states that there is a requirement for a permanent on-site 

presence for animal welfare and security purposes.  

 

10.4 In reviewing the case made for an essential need for a rural workers’ dwelling at the site, 

the Local Planning Authority have commissioned an external consultant to carry out an 

independent review of the evidence provided by the Applicant. The results of the 

independent review confirm that the functional need for a rural workers dwelling on the site 

is marginal; with the need occurring during breeding periods only. Given that this breeding 

occurs over a short-term, seasonal period, it is Officers’ assessment that such a need could 

be met through the temporary, seasonal siting of a caravan, which can be undertaken 

utilising permitted development rights, and would not justify the siting of a residential log 

cabin on a permanent / full-time basis. Indeed, the independent review indicates that the 

day-to-day operational and security requirements of the business could be appropriately 

met by an employee living within a short distance of the site and, therefore, could be 

achieved through occupation of a residential property within the nearby settlement of 

Thurlby. Taking the above into account, it is Officers’ conclusion that there is not an 

essential, functional need for a rural workers dwelling at the site. As such, the application 

proposals are contrary to Local Plan Policy SP5 and E7, and Paragraph 80 of the National 

Planning Policy Framework.  

 

10.5 On the other hand, subject to the imposition of conditions, the application proposals would 

accord with the adopted development plan on all other material considerations, including all 

technical matters. 

 

10.6 However, it is Officers’ assessment that, when taken as a whole, the application scheme 

would be contrary to the adopted development plan. This identified harm by virtue of the 

conflict with the development is to be given significant weight in the overall planning balance.  

 

10.7 In respect of any material considerations to indicate that permission should be granted 

contrary to the development plan, it is appreciated that the proposals would involve the 

provision of an additional residential dwelling and would therefore give rise to a social 

benefit. Albeit, the Local Planning Authority can demonstrate an up-to-date five year housing 

land supply, and therefore, the weight to be attributed to the provision of a single dwelling 

is limited.  

 

56



 

 
 

10.8 In addition, it is also appreciated, that the application scheme is stated to be necessary to 

support the vitality of an existing rural business. Whilst the conclusions of the independent 

review do not identify a functional need for the dwelling, it is appreciated that some economic 

benefits may occur as a result of the support for the existing business operations.  

 

10.9 Similarly, subject to the imposition of conditions requiring compliance with the Biodiversity 

Mitigation and Enhancement Plan submitted as part of the Petting Farm planning 

permission, the application proposals would result in benefits to biodiversity.  

 

10.10 Notwithstanding this, in taking all of the above into account, it is Officers’ assessment that 

the application proposals would be contrary to the adopted development plan, when taken 

as a whole, and there are no material considerations of sufficient weight to outweigh the 

identified harm by virtue of the in principle conflict with the development plan.  

 

11 Recommendation 
 

11.1 To authorise the Assistant Director – Planning to REFUSE planning permission for the 

following reason(s):  

 

1. The application proposals involve the siting of a residential dwelling within 

the Open Countryside to be occupied in connection with the existing Petting 

Farm business. However, on the basis of the evidence submitted as part of 

the application, it is concluded that there is no clear essential need for a 

rural workers dwelling to be provided in order to support the business’ 

operations. As such, the application proposals are contrary to Policy SP5 

and E7 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan, and Paragraph 80 of the 

National Planning Policy Framework. In this case, the application proposals 

are deemed to be contrary to the development plan as a whole, and there 

are no material considerations to justify granting planning permission 

contrary to the development plan.  

  

Standard Note(s) to Applicant 

 

1) There is a fundamental objection to the proposal and it is considered that this cannot be 

overcome. Consideration has not been delayed by discussions which cannot resolve the 

reasons for refusal. The decision therefore accords with Paragraph 38 of the National 

Planning Policy Framework (2021). 

 

57



 

 
 

Site Location Plan 

 

58



 

 
 

Proposed Block Plan 

 

59



 

 
 

Log Cabin Floor Plan and Elevations 

 

 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable 

 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable 

 

60



 
 

Electronic Version 

Greenacres Barn, Stoke Common Lane, Purton Stoke, Swindon SN5 4LL 
T: 01793 771333   Email: info@kernon.co.uk   Website: www.kernon.co.uk 

__________________________________________________________________ 

Directors - Tony Kernon BSc(Hons),  MRAC,, MRICS, FBIAC  Sarah Kernon 
Chartered Surveyor – Sam Eachus BSc(Hons),  MRICS,  MBIAC   

Consultants –  Ellie Chew BSc(Hons), Lauren Gaunt BSc(Hons), Amy Curtis BSc(Hons) 

Mr Adam Murray Our Ref: KCC3136/lg 
South Kesteven District Council   23rd November 2022 
Council Offices 
St Peter’s Hill 
Grantham 
Lincs 
NG31 6PZ 
 
Dear Mr Murray 
 
S22/1828: PROPOSED AGRICULTURAL WORKERS DWELLING AT TINY STEPS 
PETTING FARM, THURLBY 
 
 
1. Thank you for your consultation request in relation to the above development.  

 

2. This is a desk-based assessment. It is based on information provided with the planning 

applications, in particular: 

• application forms and plans 

• Design and Access Statement 

• Addendum to Planning Statement 

• Monthly outgoings and monthly sales 

 

3. Additional information was received on 17th November. This information included a 

business plan and additional information in relation to breeding, admission prices and 

refreshment sales. 

 

4.  Kernon Countryside Consultants previously assessed the site in 2021. It is understood 

that this application is a resubmission, for a proposed agricultural worker dwelling at 

Tiny Steps Petting Farm.    

 

  The Development Proposed 

5. It is understood that the Applicant is seeking permission for the siting of a timber log 

cabin to be occupied in connection with the operation of a petting farm. It is understood 

that this proposal is for a temporary three year period however it is not entirely clear.   

 

6.  The proposed dwelling will have 4 bedrooms, one of which will have an en-suite, a 

separate bathroom, a utility room, an open plan kitchen-dining area and a separate 

lounge area. The log cabin will be single-storey and will measure 19.6m in length and 

6.62m in width. The gross internal floorspace will extend to approximately 120m2. 

 

 

61

Appendix 1



 

 

 

  Policy Basis for this Appraisal 

7. Planning policy relating to essential worker’s dwellings is set out in the NPPF (2021) at 

paragraph 80.  Paragraph 80 states that “planning policies and decisions should 

avoid the development of new isolated homes in the countryside unless . . . . 

there is an essential need for a rural worker, including those taking majority 

control of a farm business,  to live permanently at or near their place of work in 

the countryside”. 

 

8. Whilst this guidance is very brief, since the original NPPF was published it has become 

clear that all applications need to be considered carefully against the following criteria: 

 

i) whether there is an essential need for a rural worker to live on site; 

ii) whether that need can be met by existing accommodation; 

iii) whether the enterprise is financially viable or sustainable; and 

iv) whether other relevant considerations, such as siting and size, are acceptable. 

 

9. There has also been guidance issued on the online Planning Practice Guidance 

resource in Paragraph: 010 Reference ID: 67-010-20190722. 

 

10. The guidance states that:  

 

“Considerations that it may be relevant to take into account when applying 

paragraph 79 a) [now paragraph 80] of the NPPF could include: 

• evidence of the necessity for a rural worker to live at, or in close proximity 

to, their place of work to ensure the effective operation of an agricultural, 

forestry or similar land-based rural enterprise (for instance, where farm 

animals or agricultural processes require on-site attention 24 hours a day 

and where otherwise there would be a risk to human or animal health or 

from crime, or to deal quickly with emergencies that could cause serious 

loss of crops or products);  

• the degree to which there is confidence that the enterprise will remain 

viable for the foreseeable future; 

• whether the provision of an additional dwelling on site is essential for the 

continued viability of a farming business through the farm succession 

process; 

• whether the need could be met through improvements to existing 

accommodation on the site, providing such improvements are appropriate 

taking into account their scale, appearance and the local context; and  

• in the case of new enterprises, whether it is appropriate to consider 

granting permission for a temporary dwelling for a trial period. 

Employment on an assembly or food packing line, or the need to 

accommodate seasonal workers, will generally not be sufficient to justify 

building isolated rural dwellings.” 

  

11.  The South Kesteven Adopted Local Plan, Policy SP5 states that “Development in the 

open countryside will be limited to that which has an essential need to be located 

outside of the existing built form of a settlement.  

In such instances, the following types of development will be supported:  

62



 

 

a) agriculture, forestry or equine development;  

b) rural diversification projects;  

c) replacement dwellings (on a one for one basis) or;  

d) conversion of buildings provided that the existing building(s) contributes 

to the character or appearance of the local area by virtue of their historic, 

traditional or vernacular form; and  

e) are in sound structural condition; and  

f) are suitable for conversion without substantial alteration, extension or 

rebuilding, and that the works to be undertaken do not detract from the 

character of the building(s) or their setting. 

 

12.  An assessment of the proposed development is set out below.  

 

Summary of the Enterprise 

13. Based on the information provided it is understood that Tiny Steps Petting Farm is a 

relatively new venture for the Applicants, with the business gaining consent in January 

2022. The enterprise is in full operation, but with the opening hours limited and generally 

by prior appointment.  

 

14. Based on Google Earth measurements and the blue line of the location plan, the site 

benefits from approximately 3.5 acres of which approximately 3 acres is available for 

grazing. The site currently benefits from a mobile timber structure used as a baby 

changing facility, a mobile refreshment van, static caravan, an agricultural building used 

for the housing of some animals and is the main area used for animal petting, stables 

and mobile field shelters. 

 

15.  The farm has a wide array of animals and at the date of submission, the Design and 

Access Statement sets out that the following animals are kept at the site: 

• 4 donkeys (2 of which are miniature) 

• 2 miniature Shetland ponies including 1 breeding female 

• 15 goats, 8 of which are breeding females 

• 4 sheep (2 breeding females) 

• 3 geese (2 breeding females) 

• 3 ducks (2 breeding females) 

• 30 chickens and 4 cockerels  

• 2 alpacas  

• 2 wallabies 

 

16. It is also stated that the Applicants are in the process of purchasing 2 Golden Guernsey 

nanny kids for the breeding programme.  

 

17. At the time of the previous submission in August 2021, the following animals were being 

kept onsite: 

• 4 donkeys (2 miniature dinkeys and 1 breeding female) 

• 4 ponies 

• 7 goats  

• 4 sheep  

• 4 geese 

• 30 chickens and 4 cockerels 

63



 

 

• 5 turkeys 

• 3 guinea pigs 

 

18. The total number of animals kept onsite has not significantly increased since the 

previous application. The Applicant has, however highlighted that a small number of 

animals are now breeding. Following the receipt of additional information from the 

Applicant, it is understood that the number of breeding goats is increasing further.  

 

19.  It is understood that the Applicants intend to increase the number of animals on site as 

the breeding develops. Surplus males are to be sold, allowing for the purchase of new 

animals. However, the land associated with the holding is very limited, so it is unclear 

how they intend to do this without putting significant pressure on the land to sustain the 

stocking.  

 

Dwelling assessment  

20. Functional Need.  

When considering whether there is a functional need to live onsite, consideration should 

be had to the likelihood of something going wrong, out of hours emergencies and the 

ability for someone to respond to emergencies.  

 

21.  Typically, the main rationale for farm businesses to have an essential need to live on 

site relates primarily to the animal’s welfare needs and whether the only way the needs 

can be met are by living on site. Whilst security is a relevant consideration, it is not the 

primary reason to justify the essential need to live on site.  

 

22.  Since the previous application the types of animals kept onsite are relatively similar to 

those previously considered by Kernon Countryside Consultants, albeit an increase in 

the number of goats and the addition of 2 alpacas and 2 wallabies.  

 

23.  It is evidenced in the information provided that the rarer breeds of animals attract 

unwanted attention by members of the public which have led to several incidences 

which has jeopardised the animal’s welfare. Living on site will act as a deterrent, 

however, as stated previously security is not a primary consideration when justifying the 

need to live onsite. 

 

24. Whilst no longer in force, the old Planning Policy 7, Annex A guidance confirmed that 

“The protection of livestock from theft or injury by intruders may contribute on 

animal welfare grounds to the need for a new agricultural dwelling, although it 

will not by itself be sufficient to justify one.” 

 

25. In terms of breeding operations at the site, this has increased slightly since our last 

assessment. Additional information provided by the Applicants detailed that 3 nanny 

goats are to go to a pigmy billy goat this year, with the billy goat to return to another 4 

female goats in February of next year. With a gestation period of around 150days this 

will therefore lead to 3 goats giving birth in April next year and another 4 to give birth 

around July of 2023. The relatively condensed breeding period will only give rise to a 

need to live onsite for a few weeks of the year as ideally someone should be onsite to 

closely monitor the animals and call for veterinary assistance if required. 

 

 

64



 

 

26.  However, with breeding occurring over a relatively condensed period of time and the 

small number of animals living onsite, it remains our view that the need to live onsite is 

very marginal. Whilst it has been argued within the information provided that a number 

of incidences have occurred at the farm that could have been prevented if there was an 

onsite presence, it is not entirely clear that this is the case. Breeding requires a site 

worker to be on hand at most times, however, injuries at night are more difficult to 

prevent. Regular checks could still be made when living a short distance away.  

 

27. Existing Dwellings.  

It is understood that the site does not currently benefit from any residential 

accommodation. If there were a strong need to live onsite, it is my opinion that only a 

dwelling within sight and sound of the enterprises will satisfy this need. A search on 

Rightmove dated 21st November showed one available property located approximately 

0.6miles from Tiny Steps Petting Farm. However, this property is not located within site 

or sound of the farm and as such is not considered to meet the need to live onsite.  

 

28.  We are satisfied from the information provided that there are no existing buildings that 

can be occupied. Given the proposals to increase the breeding enterprise and stock 

numbers this suggests that the buildings are to be in use for the foreseeable future.  

 

29. Based on the application form, it is understood that the Applicant lives just a 5 minute 

drive from the site. Whilst not within sight and sound of the livestock, this makes it 

relatively easy to undertake checks of livestock in the early morning and late evening.   

 

30. Financial Sustainability.   

 Financial information has been provided to accompany this application. This includes 

receipts and updated figures set out within the Applicants business plan dated 

November 2022.   

 

31.  Based on the two years of financial information provided, it is understood that the 

business has made a net income (i.e. profit before tax) of £1,073 in the year ending 1st 

January 2021 and £13,180 in the year ending 1st January 2022. No forward projections 

appear to have been provided however it is not entirely clear as to whether the financial 

information for 2022 is for the year ending January 1st 2023.  We also note that no costs 

of sales have been included which is unusual. Presumably there are costs associated 

with feed, bedding, veterinary costs and so on.  

 

32. In any event, for a business to be considered viable, it must be capable of providing a 

reasonable return on labour in the event that the site manager/applicant cannot 

undertake the work. Whilst we understand that the Applicant relies on volunteers, and 

operates a not-for-profit style operation, financial viability is one of the tests that needs 

to be satisfied. 

 

33. In exceptional cases, where profits are limited, personally worded conditions have been 

imposed on the occupancy of rural workers dwellings. This is to acknowledge that not 

all people require high levels of income that reflect a typical living wage.  

 

34. That said, based on the information provided, we remain concerned that considerable 

costs have been excluded from the business plan meaning the level of net income is 

65



 

 

likely to be less than shown.  Concerns are therefore raised regarding the long-term 

viability of the enterprise.  

 

35. Siting and Size.  

The proposed dwelling is to be sited centrally, offering good surveillance of the entrance 

and the adjoining barn and paddock areas. The proposed dwelling will be within sight 

and sound of the animals and therefore can be considered a suitable location to meet 

a potential need to live onsite.  

 

36.  The proposed log cabin will fall within the definition of a caravan. However, given the 

limited levels of income associated with the business, it is unclear how the cost of the 

temporary dwelling will be funded. Often the cost of a temporary dwelling would be paid 

for out of the living wage of a farm manger however the funds are quite limited and 

would potentially not allow this for a caravan of up to 120m2 in size.  

 

 Conclusion 

37. In summary, the need to live onsite remains marginal. The number of animals kept 

onsite is, in our opinion, not significant and the management of the enterprise is not 

considered to be overly complex in terms of welfare needs. The addition of breeding 

marginally increases the need to live onsite but given that breeding is set to occur over 

a condensed period of time, periods of a stronger need to live onsite are limited. On this 

scale, the protection of livestock from theft or injury is not great enough to enable us to 

conclude otherwise.  

 

38.  The financial information provided does not show the levels of profit we would expect 

to conclude that the business is viable or likely to become viable. The business would 

not be capable of providing a reasonable return on labour for a single site manager, 

regardless of whether other employees are volunteers. We are also concerned over 

missing costs which have the potential to reduce income considerably. This in turn 

raises concerns as to the affordability of a temporary dwelling.  

 

With kind regards. 
 
Yours sincerely   

Lauren Gaunt 
BSc(Hons) 

 

 

66



 

 

 

Planning Committee 

2 February 2023 

  

   

         
  

S22/1718 

Proposal: Outline application for redevelopment of site for mixed use development 
comprising of Class C3(a) (Residential) and Class E(c)(ii) (Office) 
(Appearance, Layout and Scale for Approval) 

Location: Ross Thain & Co LTD, Belton Street, Stamford 
Applicant: Mr Ross Thain, RTK Stamford LTD, Belton Street, Stamford 
Application Type: Outline planning application (Appearance, Layout and Scale to be 

considered) 
 

Reason for Referral 
to Committee: 

Major residential development which requires a Section 106 
Agreement to secure financial contributions 
 

Key Issues: Principle of Development 
Meeting All Housing Needs 
Impact on Heritage Assets 
Design Quality and Visual Impact 
Impact on neighbouring uses 
Access, Highways Impact and Parking 
Infrastructure for Growth 
 

Technical 
Documents: 

Design and Access Statement 
Drainage Strategy 
Flood Risk Assessment  
Minerals Safeguarding Assessment  
Protected Species Survey 
Transport Statement 

 

 

Report Author 

Adam Murray, Principal Development Management Planner 

 
 01476 406080 

  Adam.Murray@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Growth Regulatory Stamford St Mary's 

 

67

Agenda Item 6

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

Reviewed by: Phil Jordan – Development Management Manager 23 January 2023 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

To authorise the Assistant Director to GRANT planning permission, subject to conditions 
and completion of a Section 106 Agreement. 

68



 

 
 

S22/1718 – Belton Street / Gas Street, Stamford    

 

  

69



 

 
 

1 Description of site 
 

1.1 The application site comprises an area of approximately 0.16 hectares (0.39 acres) of 

broadly rectangular land situated between Belton Street and Gas Street, to the north of 

Tenter Lane, located to the south of Stamford Town Centre.  

 

1.2 The site currently consists of a mixture of single- and two-storey built form currently in a 

range of commercial and industrial uses. These include RTK Stamford’s offices (Use Class 

E), which is a two-storey, flat roofed building fronting onto Belton Street constructed of buff 

brick; and 4 (no) light industrial units (Use Class B2) including R Naylor – vehicle repair 

garage – and Welland Tyres – a tyre repair garage, which are single-storey industrial units, 

constructed of brick and of utilitarian architectural form. The remaining 2 (no) industrial units, 

which front onto Gas Street are currently vacant. The southern part of the site is currently 

occupied by domestic garages, which are similarly single-storey in scale and constructed of 

red brick. Vehicular access to the site is currently available directly from the public highway, 

whilst the north-west corner of the site (from Gas Street) currently provides a vehicular 

access to a car park situated to the rear of RTK Stamford and the adjacent Project One 

Garage.  

 

1.3 The site is bound to the north-west by Project One, which is a vehicle repair garage 

occupying plots on both sides of Belton Street; the unit that bounds directly onto the 

application site is understood to be used as an MOT Testing Centre. The site is bound to 

the north-west by 2 ½ to 3 ½ story residential properties, which front directly onto Gas Street, 

and are constructed of stone. The site is bound to the east by Belton Street, beyond which 

lies the Project One Car Sales and Vehicle Repair Unit, as well as two-storey residential 

properties, which are set back from the adopted highway and constructed of buff and red 

brick under concrete roofs. The site is bound to the south by Tenter Lane, beyond which 

currently lies further domestic garaging, as well as residential properties fronting onto Belton 

Street and the Wharf Road Car Park. The existing boundaries of the site are clearly defined 

by the extent of the public highway, with the built form currently situated immediately to the 

rear of the footway / highway.  

 

1.4 The application site falls within Character Area CA01 (Stamford) of the Stamford Character 

Study and Design Guide, which identifies the following key characteristics of the existing 

urban form, and design principles for future development:  

 

Key Characteristics  

(a) Stamford is an historic market town; its buildings are predominantly constructed of 

Jurassic limestone and it is known as one of the finest stone towns in England.  

(b) The central area of Stamford has a close grained organic settlement pattern 

(c) There are a number of landmark buildings such as churches with tall spires and 

towers located throughout the area which contribute to the townscape 

(d) The town has an historic street pattern that has developed since the medieval 

period.  

(e) Historic buildings throughout the area, rich in architectural detailing.  

(f) A distinctive civic and commercial centre to the area.  

Design Principles 

70



 

 
 

• Sensitive contemporary design, which is responsive to historic materials is 

preferable to low quality historically referenced designs which produce an 

unsympathetic pastiche of historic fabric.  

• New development should seek to conserve and, wherever possible, enhance the 

distinctive character of Stamford.  

 

1.5 The application site is located on the edge of the Stamford Conservation; the boundary of 

which runs along the A1175 to the north of the site, and along Albert Road, located on the 

western side of the Wharf Road Public Car Park. The southern part of the site is also 

identified as falling within a Minerals Safeguarding Area for Sand and Gravel as designated 

by Policy M11 of the Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan: Core Strategy and 

Development Management Policies DPD (Adopted June 2016). The site is not subject to 

any further planning policy constraints.  

 

1.6 Furthermore, it is appreciated that the application site has been the subject of a number of 

previous planning applications; the majority of which relate to the current uses of the site. 

However, more recently, the site has been the subject of an outline planning application for 

redevelopment of the site for a mixed use development comprising of Class C3 (Residential) 

and Class E(c)(ii) (Office) uses (LPA Ref: S21/0683), which was refused in March 2022 

following consideration by the Planning Committee.  

 

1.7 The previous application was refused for the following reason(s):  

 

1. As a result of the overall height and scale of the proposed terrace of houses 

fronting Gas Street, as well as the inappropriate, excessive “neo-Georgian” 

architectural style of the frontage elevation, the application proposals would 

give rise to less than substantial harm to the setting of the Stamford 

Conservation Area. The public benefits of the scheme are not considered to 

be sufficient to outweigh this less than substantial harm and, as such, the 

application proposals are considered to be contrary to Policy EN6 of the 

adopted South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 and Section 16 of the 

National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021).  

 

2. Having regard for the scale and character of existing residential properties 

within the area, it is considered that the scale of the proposed townhouses 

fronting Gas Street would be inappropriate, and the architectural design of 

this elevation would be aggressively prominent and would detract from the 

overall streetscene. In addition, as a result of the standard window sizes 

and inappropriate materials selection, it is considered that the proposed 

Belton Street elevation would be of poor design quality. Taking the above 

into account, it is concluded that the application proposals of an overall poor 

design quality and would have an unacceptable visual impact, contrary to 

the requirements of Policy SP3(e), DE1 and EN1 of the adopted South 

Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036, the adopted Design Guidelines SPD 

(November 2021), and Section 12 of the National Planning Policy 

Framework.  

 

71



 

 
 

3. The applicant has failed to enter into a planning obligation to secure the 

necessary infrastructure contributions and required affordable housing 

provision, contrary to Policies H2 and ID1 of the adopted South  Kesteven 

Local Plan 2011-2036.  

 

1.8 In addition, it is also appreciated that planning permission has been granted on appeal for 

the demolition of the existing domestic garages on the southern side of Tenter Lane 

(opposite the application site) and subsequent redevelopment for 4 apartments and 

communal gardens (Ref: S17/1335). This planning permission has subsequently been 

confirmed as having been lawfully commenced and therefore, it is an extant planning 

permission which is a relevant material consideration in the assessment of the current 

proposals.  

 

1.9 Similarly, planning permission has also previously been granted for residential development 

of the Project One Garage site, located on the opposite side of Belton Street (Ref: 

S10/1298). However, this permission has not been implemented, and despite a further 

approval to extent the timeframe for implementation, the permission has since lapsed. 

 

2 Description of proposal 
 

2.1 The current application seeks outline planning permission for redevelopment of the site for 

a mixed-use development comprising of Class C3(a) (Residential) and Class E(c)(ii) (Office) 

uses. Matters of appearance, layout and scale are submitted for consideration as part of the 

current application, with the remaining matters of access and landscaping reserved for 

subsequent determination.  

 

2.2 As alluded to above, it is noted that the current application is a revised submission of the 

previously referred planning application (Ref: S21/0683), for a development of the same 

description, which was refused by Planning Committee in March 2022.  

 

2.3 The current application has been accompanied by a Design and Access Statement and 

Proposed Plans, including Block Plan, Site Layout, Elevation Plans and Floorplans, which 

indicate a development of the following nature:  

 

2.4 As per the previous application, the submitted plans indicate the demolition of the existing 

built form on the site, including the existing offices, light industrial units and domestic 

garages, and subsequent redevelopment for a courtyard-style scheme comprising of the 

formation of 2 (no) development blocks which would front onto Belton Street and Gas Street, 

with a further secondary elevation onto Tenter Lane, and the area to the rear (centre) of the 

site to be utilised to provide ancillary vehicular and cycle parking, and private residential 

amenity space.  

 

2.5 Block A is proposed to be a dual aspect building with its primary elevation fronting onto 

Belton Street and secondary elevation fronting onto Tenter lane. It is proposed to comprise 

of ground floor office space totalling 384 sq. metres, split between 2 (no) individual office 

units; and 9 (no) maisonettes, which are proposed to be a mixture of 1-, 2- and 3-bed units 

measuring between 65 sq. metres and 118 sq. metres, and would comprise of a mixture of 

72



 

 
 

open market and affordable units. The proposed mix would consist of 5 (no) affordable units 

and 4 (no) open market units.  

2.6 The submitted plans indicated that this block would also include a carriageway arch at 

ground floor level, which would provide vehicular and pedestrian access to the rear / centre 

of the site.  

 

2.7 The principal elevation of the office / apartment block (Block A) is proposed to front onto 

Belton Street and adopts a contemporary design and materiality, which reflects the broad 

principles of the previously submitted scheme. The appearance and materiality of this 

elevation has, however, been substantially amended following the previous refusal. The 

ground floor, which is proposed to be occupied by the office uses, is to be constructed with 

coursed limestone rubble walls and feature limestone ashlar quoins and plinths and finished 

with frameless glazing.  

 

2.8 The first and second floor walls of this elevation are jettied and / or cantilevered out over the 

ground floor below to provide a small degree of shelter for users accessing the offices and 

seeking to enter the residential maisonettes. These first and second floor elevations are 

proposed to be finished in render, with the first floor to be finished in an off-white through 

coloured render and the second floor to be finished in a mid-grey render to emphasise the 

setback of this elevation. This second floor level will be set back from the main elevation to 

enable the provision of an external roof terrace, which will be marked with a frameless glass 

balustrade. The window arrangement of this elevation has been the subject of revisions 

following the previous refusal, and during the lifetime of the current scheme, and the 

proposals now demonstrate a bespoke arrangement with a variety of window sizes; all of 

which are proposed to be aluminium casement style windows in a bronzed finish and will 

feature external oak surrounds. Block A is also proposed to have a green roof and will have 

an overall height of 9.1 metres.  

 

2.9 Block B is proposed to front directly onto Gas Street and will provide a terraced block of 6 

(no) 3- and 4-bed townhouses ranging from 120 sq. metres to 141 sq. metres in size and 

occupying 3-storeys of accommodation. 

 

2.10 The scale of Block B has been substantially reduced through the current revised scheme, 

with an overall reduction of 3m in height from the previously refused scheme, and this 

elevation now features a gradation in the scale of the proposed townhouses, which follows 

the topography of the adjacent highway and the surrounding area.  

 

2.11 Similarly, a more contemporary 19th century terraced approach has been adopted, with the 

ground floor garages removed in favour of ground floor front doors set behind a painted 

meta rail fence. The proposed dwellings are to be constructed of traditional Williamson Cliff 

type brick laid in Flemish bond and situated under a blue slate mansard roof. The dwellings 

will feature painted, timber sash windows in the front elevation and two dormer windows in 

the roofscape. The architectural design will feature brickwork camber arch lintels and a brick 

chimney to match the proposed brickwork, and limestone ashlar coping.  

 

2.12 As referenced above, details of access and landscaping are reserved for future 

determination. However, the Proposed Site Layout has been submitted for consideration as 

part of the current application, and the submitted plan does include details, which would 

73



 

 
 

indicate the likely arrangements for access and landscaping. In this respect, the centre (rear) 

of the site is proposed to include a courtyard arrangement, which will feature up to 9 parking 

spaces which will be allocated for use by occupants of the residential apartments. An 

additional secure cycle storage and covered bin store is proposed to be provided along the 

northern boundary of the courtyard. The plot boundaries are indicated as being marked with 

2.4m high brick garden walls, and a retained gated pedestrian access is also shown along 

the northern boundary of the site, to provide access to the adjacent Weston House and 

Milners Court. The submitted application form indicates that the courtyard would be block 

paved using a Tobermore Retro Bracken paving with riven finish.  

 

2.13 The submitted application for indicates that it is the intention for all surface and foul water 

flows to be disposed of via the existing main sewer within Belton Street. However, as part 

of the detailed landscaping proposals submitted at reserved matters stage, consideration 

will be given to the use of a permeable paving system, which would attenuate surface water 

within a crushed stone layer beneath the permeable paving layer, before discharging into 

the mains sewer network. In addition, it is also proposed to include a Green Roof on Block 

A, to mitigate surface water flows from this proposed residential and office accommodation.  

 

3 Relevant History 
 

Reference Description of Development Decision 
S21/0683 Redevelopment of site for mixed use development 

comprising Class C3(a) (Residential) and Class E(c)(ii) 
(Office) – Outline planning application considering 
appearance, layout and scale 

Refused 
25.03.2022 

S10/1298 Residential development (4) (Outline with all matters 
reserved) 

Approved Conditionally  
24.08.2010 

S13/1752 Application to extend time limit for implementation of 
outline planning permission ref: S10/1298 (in relation to 
housing development) 

Approved Conditionally  
13.08.2013 

S17/1335 Demolition of garages, alteration to existing dwellings, 
creational of 4 apartments and communal garden 

Refused 
18.09.17 
Appeal Allowed 
29.01.18 

S21/0106  Confirmation of compliance with Condition 1 
(Commencement Date) of S17/1335 

Complied with  
13.05.2021 

 

4 Policy Considerations 
 

4.1 South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (Adopted January 2020) 

Policy SD1 – The Principle of Sustainable Development in South Kesteven 

Policy SP1 – Spatial Strategy  

Policy SP2 – Settlement Hierarchy  

Policy SP3 – Infill Development 

Policy H2 – Affordable Housing Contributions 

Policy H4 – Meeting All Housing Needs 

Policy E6 – Loss of Employment Land and Buildings to Non-Employment Uses 

Policy EN1 – Landscape Character 

Policy EN2 – Protecting Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

74



 

 
 

Policy EN4 – Pollution Control  

Policy EN5 – Water Environment and Flood Risk Management  

Policy EN6 – The Historic Environment 

Policy DE1 – Promoting Good Quality Design 

Policy SB1 – Sustainable Building 

Policy OS1 – Open Space 

Policy ID1 – Infrastructure for Growth  

Policy ID2 – Transport and Strategic Transport Infrastructure  

 

4.2 Stamford Neighbourhood Plan 2016 – 2036 (Made July 2022) 

Policy 2 – Additional Residential Development 

Policy 3 – Housing type and mix on new developments 

Policy 8 – The Historic Environment 

Policy 10 – Character Areas 

Policy 11 – Sustainable Transport 

 

4.3 Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan: Core Strategy and Development 

Management Policies DPD (Adopted June 2016) 

Policy M11 – Safeguarding of Minerals Resources 

 

4.4 Design Guidelines for Rutland and South Kesteven Supplementary Planning 

Document (Adopted November 2021) 

 

4.5 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (Adopted July 2021) 

Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development 

Section 4 – Decision-making 

Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 

Section 6 – Building a strong, competitive economy 

Section 9 – Promoting sustainable transport 

Section 11 – Making effective use of land 

Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places 

Section 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 

Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

Section 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

Section 17 – Facilitating the sustainable use of minerals 

 

5 Representations Received 
 

5.1 Anglian Water 

5.1.1 No objection, subject to conditions.  

 

5.1.2 The foul drainage from this development is in the catchment of the Stamford Water 

Recycling Centre, which will have available capacity for these flows.  

 

5.2 Cadent Gas 

5.2.1 No comments received.  

 

5.3 Environment Agency 

75



 

 
 

5.3.1 No objection, subject to conditions.  

 

5.3.2 The previous use of this site as a car repair garage presents a potential risk of contamination 

that could be mobilised during construction to pollute controlled waters. Controlled waters 

are particularly sensitive in this location because the proposed development site is located 

partly upon a principal aquifer and within Source Protection Zone 3. In addition, the River 

Welland is located within 100m of the south of the site.  

 

5.3.3 We consider that it will be possible to manage the risks posed to controlled waters by this 

development. Further detailed information can be secured via planning condition.  

 

5.4 Gardens Trust 

5.4.1 No comments to make.  

 

5.5 Heritage Lincolnshire 

5.5.1 No objection subject to conditions.  

 

5.5.2 It is considered that the site offers a potential for archaeological remains to be present based 

on the extent and type of remains recorded in the vicinity. Therefore, it is recommended that 

the developer should be required to commission a Scheme of Archaeological Work, to 

determine the presence, character and date of any archaeological deposits present at the 

site.  

 

5.6 Lincolnshire County Council (Education) 

5.6.1 No comments to make.  

 

5.7 Lincolnshire County Council (Highways & SuDS) 

5.7.1 No objection, subject to conditions and Section 106 planning contributions 

 

5.7.2 The site is located in a central urban location where services and facilities are within a 

reasonable distance to be accessed via sustainable travel options such as walking, cycling 

and public transport. Future residents of the development will not be reliant on the private 

car and therefore, parking is not essential for this proposal.  

 

5.7.3 The application is supported by a Transport Statement which considers the impact of the 

proposed development on the highway network. The detailed information concludes that no 

significant impact will occur on the existing local highway network.  

 

5.7.4 Conditions proposed to secure further details relating to surface water drainage 

5.7.5 Section 106 contributions requested towards implementation of proposed double yellow 

lines, and towards improving local cycling infrastructure.  

 

5.8 Lincolnshire County Council (Minerals) 

5.8.1 No objections.  

 

5.8.2 It is considered that, having regard to the scale, nature and location of the proposed 

development, the Applicant has demonstrated that, in accordance with the criteria set out 

within Policy M11 of the Minerals and Waste Local Plan: Core Strategy and Development 

76



 

 
 

Management Policies (2016), the development is of a minor nature which will have a 

negligible impact with respect to sterilising the mineral resource, and also that prior 

extraction of the mineral would be impractical.  

 

5.9 Lincolnshire Police Crime Prevention Office 

5.9.1 No objections, subject to conditions.  

 

5.10 Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue 

5.10.1 No objections. 

 

5.11 NHS Lincolnshire 

5.11.1 Section 106 Contribution requested.  

 

5.11.2 The contribution requested for the development is £9,900.00 

 

5.12 Stamford Town Council  

5.12.1 No objections in principle.  

 

5.12.2 Concerns that the number of dwellings has been extended from 5 to 6, thus substantially 

reducing the floorspace of each unit.  

 

5.12.3 Concerns over the location of a site compound during construction 

 

5.12.4 Contractors to make good damage to verge or kerbing associated with this development.  

 

5.13 SKDC Affordable Housing Officer 

5.13.1 No comments received.  

 

5.14 SKDC Conservation Officer 

5.14.1 No objections, subject to conditions. 

 

5.14.2 The most prominently displayed element of the development (which was of greatest concern 

previously) will be the terrace of houses fronting onto Gas Street with extensive views from 

Wharf Road Car Park to the west of the site.  

 

5.14.3 The height and scale of the terrace has been significantly reduced to now site more 

comfortably in relation to the adjacent buildings at either end of the street, and there is a 

gradation to the rooflines which follows the slope of the road.  

 

5.14.4 The roof dormers of this elevation have been reduced in size to better visual and 

architectural effect.  

 

5.14.5 In all respects, the scheme is now in accordance with the previous advice and I can see no 

objections on heritage grounds.  

 

5.15 SKDC Environmental Protection 

5.15.1 No objection, subject to conditions. 

 

77



 

 
 

5.16 SKDC Principal Urban Design Officer 

5.16.1 Neutral  

 

5.16.2 The ground floor garages have been removed and the scheme now has front doors and a 

front boundary railing at ground floor, which is an improvement and acceptable.  

 

5.16.3 The white render will be more durable in the long term (it’s through coloured which is more 

robust) and fits with the more contemporary elevation.  

 

5.16.4 The oak surrounds to windows and oak edges will add some quality and interest in detailing.  

 

5.16.5 The window sizes and arrangement are still a little odd, and there isn’t sufficient explanation 

about their thinking / rationale. The scheme doesn’t need to have so many windows of the 

same width. It looks like standard sizing is being used when something more bespoke is 

required. Some larger panes of glass, fewer glazing bars / openings and some interesting 

arrangements are needed. This would improve the contemporary style of the scheme.  

 

6 Representations as a Result of Publicity 
 

6.1 The application has been advertised in accordance with the Council’s Statement of 

Community Involvement and 2 letters of representation have been received; both of which 

have raised formal objections to the application. The letters of representation have raised 

the following material considerations 

1. Impact on the residential amenity of 3 Belton Gardens and the approved 

residential development on Tenter Lane 

2. The design is out of keeping with the character of the area, and is visually 

oppressive.  

3. The local highway network will be unable to cope with the increased volume 

of vehicles. 

 

7 Evaluation 
 

7.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the Local 

Planning Authority makes decisions in accordance with the adopted Development Plan, 

unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In this case, the adopted Development 

Plan comprises of the following documents:  

 

1. South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (Adopted January 2020); and 

2. Stamford Neighbourhood Plan 2016-2036 (Made July 2022) 

 

7.2 Furthermore, the Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan: Core Strategy and 

Development Management Policies DPD (Adopted June 2016) forms part of the 

development plan in relation to minerals planning.  

 

7.3 The Local Planning Authority have also adopted a Design Guidelines Supplementary 

Planning Document (SPD) (Adopted November 2021) and this document is a material 

consideration in the determination of planning applications.  

78



 

 
 

7.4 The policies and provisions set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (“the 

Framework”) (Adopted July 2021) are also a relevant material consideration in the 

determination of planning applications.  

 

7.5 Similarly, as referenced above, the current application is a revised submission of the 

previously refused application for outline planning permission for a development of the same 

description, which was refused by the Local Planning Authority in March 2022 (LPA Ref: 

S21/0683). The previous application was refused for three reasons relating to the height, 

scale and architectural design of the terrace of dwellings fronting Gas Street and the 

consequential harm to the setting of the Stamford Conservation Area; the poor quality 

design of the Belton Street elevation; and the absence of a planning obligation to secure the 

necessary infrastructure contributions and affordable housing provision. The current 

application has been revised to significantly alter the scale and appearance of the Gas 

Street and Belton Street elevations, as well as alterations to the overall quantum of 

development.  

 

7.6 However, as identified, it is also noted that the Stamford Neighbourhood Plan has also been 

formally “made” since the determination of the previous planning application. As such, whilst 

the LPA’s assessment of the previous application proposals is a relevant material 

consideration, the weight to be attributed to this assessment is reduced having regard to the 

fundamental changes to the application scheme and the policy context in the intervening 

period.  

 

7.7 Principle of Development 

7.7.1 Local Plan Policy SP1 (Spatial Strategy) identifies that the focus for the majority of growth 

is in and around the four market towns, with Grantham being a particular focal point for 

development. Development proposals that make effective use of previously developed land 

will also be encouraged. In connection with the above, decisions about the location and 

scale of new development will be taken on the basis of the settlement hierarchy set out in 

Policy SP2.  

 

7.7.2 Policy SP2 (Settlement Hierarchy) identifies Stamford as one of the three market towns (in 

addition to Grantham) that will be the focus for new development during the plan period. It 

states that “Development which maintains and supports the role of the three market towns 

of Stamford, Bourne and The Deepings will be allowed provided that it does not compromise 

their nature and character. Priority will be given to the delivery of sustainable sites within the 

built-up part of the town and appropriate edge of settlement extensions”.  

 

7.7.3 In addition, Local Plan Policy SP3 (Infill Development) identifies that infill development, 

which is in accordance with all other relevant Local Plan policies, will be supported provided 

that:  

 

(a) It is within a substantially built-up frontage or redevelopment opportunity 

(previously development land) 

(b) It is within the main built-up part of the settlement 

(c) It does not cause unacceptable impact on the occupiers’ amenity of adjacent 

properties 

(d) It does not extend the pattern of development beyond the existing built form; and  

79



 

 
 

(e) It is in keeping with the character of the area and is sensitive to the setting of 

adjacent properties.  

 

7.7.4 Similarly, Section 5 of the Framework seeks to significantly boost the supply of homes. In 

addition, Section 11 encourages the effective use of land. Paragraph 120 specifically 

identifies that planning policies and decisions should “promote and support the development 

of under-utilised land and buildings, especially if this would help to meet identified needs for 

housing where land supply is constrained and available sites could be used more 

effectively”. 

 

7.7.5 In respect of the above, it is acknowledged that the application site is currently occupied by 

RTK Stamford’s offices (Use Class E(c)(ii)), 4 (no) light industrial units (Use Class B2) of 

which 2 (no) are currently occupied and the other two remain vacant; and the remainder of 

the site is comprised of domestic garages and hardstanding. In view of the vacant nature of 

the light industrial units and the limited occupation of the domestic garages, the site in its 

current form is deemed to be underutilised and therefore represents an appropriate 

redevelopment opportunity.  

 

7.7.6 In addition, the site is located within the main built-up area of Stamford, to the south of the 

Stamford Town Centre, and redevelopment of the site would not extend the pattern of 

development beyond the existing limits of the town.  

 

7.7.7 Taking the above into account, redevelopment of the site would be in accordance with 

criteria (a), (b), and (d) of Local Plan Policy SP3 and, would be in accordance with the overall 

spatial strategy for development within the District. With regards to criteria (c) and (e), these 

matters fall to be assessed against the relevant material design considerations outlined 

below. 

 

7.7.8 In respect of the principle of the proposed redevelopment of the site for a mixed-use 

development comprising of residential apartments and townhouses, and office space, it is 

appreciated that the application site is currently in employment use, and therefore, the 

application proposals fall to be considered in the context of Policy E6 (Loss of Employment 

Land and Buildings to Non-Employment Uses) of the adopted Local Plan. This policy states 

that the Council will seek to retain and enhance existing areas of employment use, as well 

as the sites identified in Policy E1 to E4, unless it can be demonstrated that:  

 

(a) The site is vacant and no longer appropriate or viable as an employment site – this 

may include the need for effective, robust and proportionate marketing of the land 

and buildings to be undertaken; or 

(b) Redevelopment of the site would maintain the scale of employment opportunities 

on the site, or would deliver wider benefits, including regenerating vacant or 

underutilised land; or 

(c) The alternative use would not be detrimental to the overall supply and quality of 

employment land within the District; or  

(d) The alternative use would resolve existing conflicts between land uses.  

 

7.7.9 In the context of the above, the submitted application for indicates that the site currently 

provides 21 (no) full-time equivalent (FTE) jobs, whilst the proposed development is 

80



 

 
 

anticipated to generate 46 (no) FTE jobs. Taking this into account, it is accepted that the 

submitted proposals would maintain the scale of employment opportunities on the site, 

whilst also providing wider benefits, including the redevelopment of an underutilised site 

within the centre of Stamford, which would provide additional residential accommodation 

towards the District’s housing needs. Consequently, it is Officers’ assessment that the 

application proposals would meet the requirements of criteria (b) of Policy E6 and the use 

of the land for a mixed-use purpose is justified in this case.  

 

7.7.10 Furthermore, Policy 2 (Additional Residential Development) of the made Stamford 

Neighbourhood Plan identifies that proposals for new residential development within the 

existing built form of Stamford will be supported, where it can demonstrate the following, 

where appropriate:  

 

(a) It will protect and, where appropriate, enhance the characteristic features of the 

townscape, landscape, prominent or historic buildings and structures, woodland, 

mature trees and hedgerows.  

(b) Its location and size does not conflict with the existing character and built form of 

that part of the settlement and should demonstrate how it responds positively to 

the positive character area attributes as identified within the Stamford Conservation 

Area Appraisal or the Stamford Character Study and Design Guide.  

(c) It safeguards the amenity of existing garden space 

(d) It provides satisfactory layouts to safeguard the amenities of residential properties 

in the immediate locality; and  

(e) It should not have an unacceptable impact on highway capacity or safety.  

 

7.7.11 Consequently, redevelopment of the site for a mixture of office and residential purposes is 

considered to be acceptable in principle within the made Neighbourhood Plan, subject to 

compliance with the identified criteria. These matters are considered as part of the relevant 

material considerations discussed below.  

 

7.7.12 Notwithstanding the above, it is noted that representations received from Stamford Town 

Council have raised concerns about the quantum of development proposed. In particular, 

they have identified that the current application proposals would involve the provision of an 

additional townhouse, when compared to the previously refused scheme, and that this may 

have unacceptable impacts on the proposed floorspace of the individual dwellings.  

 

7.7.13 In this respect, the application scheme would involve the provision of 15 residential units, 

which would be distributed as 9 (no) maisonettes and 6 (no) townhouses, alongside the 

delivery of 384 sq. metres of ground floor office space, on a site totalling 0.16 hectares. On 

this basis, it is accepted that the residential development would equate to 100 dwellings be 

hectare, which is acknowledged to be high density of development. However, it is also noted 

that the residential development is a mixture of apartments and townhouses, which would 

be split across multiple floors. In this regard, the submitted scheme has been accompanied 

by Proposed Floor Plans and a Schedule of Residential Accommodation, which 

demonstrates that all residential accommodation would meet the nationally described space 

standards. Consequently, it is Officers’ assessment that the quantum of development 

proposed would remain appropriate for the site, and could be suitably accommodated 

without giving rise to any unacceptable adverse impacts on the character of the area.  

81



 

 
 

7.7.14 To summarise, it is Officers’ assessment that the proposed redevelopment of the site would 

be in accordance with the overall spatial strategy for the District, as set out in Policy SP1, 

SP2, SP3 and E6 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan and Policy 2 of the made 

Stamford Neighbourhood Plan. As such, the principle of development is acceptable, subject 

to material considerations. These matters have been assessed below.  

 

7.8 Meeting All Housing Needs / Affordable Housing Contributions 

7.8.1 Local Plan Policy H2 (Affordable Housing Contributions) seeks to meet the needs for 

affordable housing within the District by requiring all major development proposals to 

provide affordable housing. Within the main built-up part of Stamford, the policy requires the 

provision of 30% of affordable housing.  

 

7.8.2 Furthermore, Paragraph 65 of the Framework requires major development proposals to 

provide a minimum of 10% of the total number of homes to be available for affordable 

homeownership.  

 

7.8.3 In respect of the above, the application submission has been accompanied by a Design and 

Access Statement, which includes an Affordable Housing Statement, that identifies the 

following:  

 

(a) The scheme provides for 5 (no) affordable dwellings, of which 3 (no) are 1-bed, 2-

perons maisonettes, and 2 (no) are 2-bed, 3-person maisonettes, which equates 

to an overall provision of 33%.  

(b) Having confirmed during the course of the previous application that provision 

needs to be made for affordable housing within the site (as opposed to an off-site 

contribution) initial discussions were held with a Registered Social Landlord whom 

already manage a number of affordable sites in the area. The conclusions from 

these discussions were that the highest demand is for one and two bed properties 

for the under 55 group.  

(c) Upon completion of the development, the ownership of the affordable housing units 

would be transferred to the RSL (assumed to be Longhurst at this stage) who would 

operate and manage them and also determine / agree an appropriate mix of 

tenures.  

(d) The arrangement of the Affordable and Open Market apartments has been 

considered so that the two tenure types have separate accesses and circulation 

areas. This is in line with comments from the RSL to ensure that the two tenures 

do not share communal areas, to facilitate the management of those communal 

areas appropriately. Externally, the affordable and open market dwellings are 

indistinguishable.  

 

7.8.4 Taking the above the above into account, it is Officers’ assessment that the proposals would 

meet the affordable housing needs of the local community, as identified by the Council’s 

Housing Register Data, which identifies a priority need for one / two bedroom 

accommodation. The proposed affordable housing provision would meet the identified 30% 

policy requirement in order to make the development acceptable. The tenure mix and 

allocation of affordable dwellings would be the subject of future agreement of an Affordable 

Housing Scheme as part of the obligations secured within the Section 106 Agreement. As 

82



 

 
 

such, subject to the completion of a Section 106 Agreement, the scheme would be in 

accordance with Local Plan Policy H2.  

 

7.8.5 In terms of the mix of property types and sizes to be provided across the development, Local 

Plan Policy H4 (Meeting All Housing Needs) requires all major proposals to provide an 

appropriate type and size of dwellings to meet the needs of current and future households 

of the District.  

 

7.8.6 In addition, Policy 3 (Housing type and mix on new developments) of the made 

Neighbourhood Plan seeks to ensure proposals provide an appropriate mix of housing, 

including  

 

7.8.7 The Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 2014 recommends that housing 

provision in the District should be monitored against the following broad mix up to 2036: 

  

 1-bed 2-bed 3-bed 4+ bed 

Market 0-5% 30-35% 45-50% 15-20% 

Affordable 20-25% 40-45% 25-30% 5-10% 

7.8.8 The submitted application proposals would provide the following housing mix: 

 1-bed 2-bed 3-bed 4+ bed 

Market (10 
units) 

0% (0 units) 20% (2 units) 70% (7 units) 10% (1 unit) 

Affordable (5 
units) 

60% (3 units) 40% (2 units)  0% (0 units) 0% (0 units) 

 

7.8.9 In light of the above, it is appreciated that the proposed housing mix would include an 

increased proportion of 3-bed market dwellings and 1-bed affordable dwellings when 

compared against the recommended housing mix contained within the SHMA. However, the 

scheme as a whole would provide an appropriate mix of property types and sizes; which 

appropriately focuses on meeting the need for smaller properties, as identified within the 

made Stamford Neighbourhood Plan.  

 

7.8.10 Taking the above into account, it is Officers’ assessment that, subject to the completion of 

a Section 106 Agreement to secure the required affordable housing contributions, the 

proposal would be in accordance with Policy H2 and H4 of the adopted South Kesteven 

Local Plan, Policy 3 of the made Stamford Neighbourhood Plan, and Section 5 of the 

National Planning Policy Framework.  

 

7.9 Impact on heritage assets 

7.9.1 As previously identified, the application site sits on the edge of the Stamford Conservation 

Area, for which the boundary runs along the A1175 to the north of the site, and along Albert 

Road on the western side of the Wharf Road car park. As such, the application site benefits 

from views into and out of the Conservation Area from across the open expanses of the car 

park and, therefore, the Gas Street elevation contributes to the setting of the Conservation 

Area.  

83



 

 
 

7.9.2 Local Plan Policy EN6 (The Historic Environment) is the primary development plan policy 

through which the Council seeks to exercises its statutory functions with regards to heritage 

assets. This policy states that the Council will seek to protect and enhance heritage assets 

and their settings in keeping with the polices in the National Planning Policy Framework, 

and proposals will be expected to take Conservation Area Appraisals into account, where 

these have been adopted by the Council. Development that is likely to cause harm to the 

significance of a heritage asset or its setting will only be granted permission where the public 

benefits of the proposal outweigh the potential harm.  

 

7.9.3 Similarly, Policy 8 (The Historic Environment) of the Neighbourhood Plan identifies that 

development will be supported where it conserves or enhances the significance of 

designated and non-designated heritage assets and their setting, through high quality and 

sensitive design, taking into consideration appropriate scale, materials and siting in relation 

to the historic views identified within the Stamford Conservation Area Appraisals.  

 

7.9.4 In connection with the above, it is appreciated that the previous application was refused for 

reasons which included the identified harm to the setting of the Conservation Area as result 

of the overall height and scale of the terrace of housing fronting Gas Street, as well as the 

excessive “neo-Georgian” architectural style.  

 

7.9.5 In this respect, the current application scheme has been significantly amended to address 

the previously identified objections. Most notably, the scale of the proposed townhouses 

has been substantially reduced, with an overall reduction of 3 metres in height from the 

previously refused scheme, and this elevation now features a gradation in the scale of the 

proposed dwellings, which follows the topography of the adjacent highway and the 

surrounding roofscape.  

 

7.9.6 Similarly, the “neo-Georgian” architectural approach has been revised in favour of a more 

contemporary 19th century terraced approach. The proposed dwellings are to be constructed 

on a traditional Williamson Cliff type brick laid in a Flemish bond, and situated under a slate 

mansard roof. The dwellings will feature timber sash windows with camber arch lintels and 

a brick chimney. 

 

7.9.7 In connection with the above, the Council’s Conservation Consultee has reviewed that 

application scheme and has confirmed that they have no objections to the revised 

proposals. In submitting their comments, they have stated the following: “The height and 

scale of the terrace has been significantly reduced to now sit more comfortably in relation 

to the adjacent, existing buildings at either end of the street, and there is a gradation in the 

rooflines which follows the slope of the road. The elevational treatment of the principal west 

facing elevation to the terrace now shows restraint and better articulation of the elements. 

The scheme is now in accordance with the previous advice, and I can see no objections on 

heritage grounds”.  

 

7.9.8 Similarly, the Gardens Trust have confirmed that they have no comments to make on the 

application proposals.  

 

7.9.9 Taking the above into account, it is Officers’ assessment that the application site in its 

current form does not make a positive contribution to the character of the area and the 

84



 

 
 

setting of the Conservation Area. The application proposals represent the opportunity to 

redevelop the site for a mixed-use development scheme, and the submitted design 

proposals of the Gas Street elevation have been confirmed as being appropriate for the 

surrounding urban morphology. As such, it is Officers’ assessment that the current 

application proposals would make a positive contribution to the setting of the adjacent 

Conservation Area.  

 

7.9.10 Consequently, the application scheme would accord with the requirements of Local Plan 

Policy EN6, Neighbourhood Plan Policy 8 and Section 16 of the Framework.  

 

7.10 Design Quality and Visual Impact 

7.10.1 Local Plan Policy DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) states (amongst other criteria) that 

to ensure high quality design is achieved throughout the District, all development proposals 

will be expected to make a positive contribution to local distinctiveness, vernacular and 

character of the area. Proposals should reinforce local identity and not have an adverse 

impact on the streetscene, settlement pattern of the landscape / townscape character of the 

surrounding area. Proposals should be of an appropriate scale, density, massing, height 

and material given the context of the area. Policy EN1 (Landscape Character) seeks to 

ensure that development is appropriate for its context.  

 

7.10.2 Similarly, Policy 10 (Character Areas) of the made Stamford Neighbourhood Plan requires 

development proposals to have regard to the form, function and strategy of an area, place 

or street and the scale, mass and orientation of the surrounding buildings of the character 

areas, as identified in the Stamford Character Study and Design Guide. As previously 

referenced, the application site falls within character area CA01 (Stamford), for which there 

are the following key design principles for development proposals:  

 

(a) Sensitive contemporary design, which is responsive to historic materials is 

preferable to low quality, historically referenced designs, which produce an 

unsympathetic pastiche of historic fabric 

(b) New development should seek to conserve and, wherever possible, enhance the 

distinctive character of Stamford.  

 

7.10.3 Furthermore, the adopted Design Guidelines SPD (Adopted November 2021) identifies that 

the detailed design of a proposal should be influenced by its context and should consider 

the relationship between the site and other buildings, routes and spaces, views and vistas, 

facilities, architectural details and the landscape. The appearance and architectural 

landscape of the surrounding buildings should be drawn upon to influence the detailed 

design.  

 

7.10.4 In relation to the above, it is appreciated that the previous planning application was refused 

due to concerns relating to the overall design quality and the associated adverse visual 

impact. In particular, it was determined that the scale of the proposed townhouses fronting 

Gas Street would be inappropriate, and the architectural design of the elevation would be 

aggressively prominent and detract from the overall character of the area. In addition, it was 

considered that the proposed Belton Street elevation would be poor design quality, as a 

result of the standard window sizes and inappropriate materials selection.  

85



 

 
 

7.10.5 As previously discussed, the current application has been substantially revised to address 

the concerns raised in the determination of the previous application. In respect of the Gas 

Street elevation, the height of the proposed townhouses has been reduced by 3m, and the 

roofscape now includes a gradation in the roofline which follows the topography of the 

adjacent highway, as well as the stepped roofscape of the existing residential properties to 

the north and south. In view of the above, the proposed scale of the Gas Street elevation is 

now deemed to be appropriate and would assimilate with the surrounding built form. 

Furthermore, the architectural approach of the proposed townhouses has also been 

revisited in favour of a more contemporary 19th century terraced approach. The proposed 

revised architectural approach and materials is considered to be more in keeping with the 

character of dwellings within the surrounding area, and feature an appropriate degree of 

reference to the historic character of the surrounding area without being viewed as an 

inappropriate pastiche design.  

 

7.10.6 With regards to the Belton Street elevation, this elevation has also been revised, particular 

in relation to the appearance and materiality of this Block. The ground floor is to be 

constructed of coursed limestone rubble walls and would feature limestone ashlar quoins 

and plinths and finished with frameless glazing. Whilst the first and second floor elevations 

are to be finished in render; the first floor elevation is to be finished in an off-white through 

colour, whilst the second floor would be finished in a mid-grey colour to emphasise the 

setback nature of this floor. In addition, the window arrangement has also been the subject 

of revisions following the previous refusal and during the lifetime of the current scheme, the 

proposals now indicate that a bespoke arrangement would be provided with a variety of 

window sizes, all of which are to be aluminium casement style windows with a bronzed finish 

and oak external surrounds.  

 

7.10.7 In connection with the above, the Council’s Principal Urban Design Officer has been 

consulted on the application proposals and have confirmed that they represent a significant 

improvement when compared to the design of the previously refused scheme. In particular, 

the provision of ground floor access to the Gas Street elevation and a defined front boundary 

treatment would enhance this elevation, and it is also concluded that the revised materials 

details would also be appropriate for the scheme.   

 

7.10.8 However, it is noted that the Urban Design Officer has previously expressed concerns about 

the window positions and sizes. In this regard, it is the Case Officers’ assessment that the 

revised scheme, which has been further amended following receipt of the Urban Design 

Officer’s comments, represents a suitably bespoke window arrangement. Whilst the 

proposed windows would all be aluminium casement style windows, the proposed frames 

and panes would feature a variety of sizes. The Applicant has acknowledged that the 

positioning of the windows has been primarily driven by the requirement to provide an 

appropriate degree of natural light to the residential accommodation in the first and second 

floor of this proposed block. As well as provided the necessary means of escape and 

ventilation required by Building Regulations. In view of the above, it is the Case Officers’ 

view that the clustering of the units and varying of the casement sizes would provide an 

appropriately bespoke / unique arrangement, whilst still providing the necessary natural light 

for the residential accommodation. In adopting this approach, the proposed window sizes 

and arrangement would appropriately assimilate with the overall principles of the 

contemporary approach adopted within this elevation, as well as the functional requirements 

of the future occupants.  

86



 

 
 

7.10.9 Notwithstanding the above, it is appreciated that public representations received on the 

application have raised objections on the basis that the design is out of character for the 

surrounding area and would be visually oppressive.  

 

7.10.10 In this respect, as identified above, it is Officers’ assessment that the revisions to the Gas 

Street elevation would ensure that the scale and appearance of this elevation would 

appropriately reflect the surrounding urban morphology of this area. The roofline / scale of 

the dwellings now demonstrates an appropriate degree of gradation which reflects the 

variation in the roofline of the adjoining residential built form, and would ensure that the 

scale of these dwellings positively assimilates with the surrounding area. Similarly, the 

revised architectural philosophy now shows an appropriate degree of restraint and, would 

be in keeping with the design of the adjacent properties. The revision to the proposed 

materials for this elevation would address the concerns raised by Stamford Town Council 

on the previous application, and would also reflect the prevailing materiality of the 

surrounding area; which comprises a mixture of Stamford stone and light brickwork.  

 

7.10.11 With regards to the Belton Street elevation, it is appreciated that this elevation adopts a 

contemporary approach, which is not currently evident within the immediate surroundings. 

However, it is also noted that the Stamford Character Area and Design Guide, which forms 

part of the supporting evidence base for the made Neighbourhood Plan, and is referenced 

in Policy 10 of the Plan, advocates a more contemporary approach to development within 

this area, as opposed to poorly referenced historical designs. As such, the proposed 

contemporary approach would be in accordance with the design principles of the made 

Neighbourhood Plan.  

 

7.10.12 It is Officers’ assessment that the submitted scheme would provide an appropriate scale of 

development, which is consistent with the surrounding area, and the proposed layout would 

ensure that the development benefits from active street frontages on all elevations. The 

proposed materiality of the Belton Street elevation is assessed as being appropriate for the 

contemporary approach, and would also assist in reducing the impression of overbearance 

as a result of the 3-storey form, as it would highlight the degree of setback of the upper 

floors of this elevation. Further details of materials are proposed to be secured via planning 

condition.  

 

7.10.13 Taking all of the above into account, it is Officers’ assessment that, on balance, the 

application proposals represent an acceptable layout, appearance and scale, which would 

not give rise to any unacceptable adverse impacts on the character and appearance of the 

area; and have appropriately addressed the previous reasons for refusal on these matters. 

Consequently, it is concluded that the application scheme would accord with Policy SP3, 

DE1 and EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan; Policy 2 and Policy 10 of the made 

Stamford Neighbourhood Plan, the adopted Design Guidelines SPD, and Section 12 of the 

Framework; although appropriate planning conditions are proposed.  

 

7.11 Impact on Residential Amenity 

7.11.1 In respect of the impact of the proposed development on the residential amenity of 

neighbouring properties, it is noted that public representations have raised objections on the 

basis that the application scheme would have an unacceptable impact on the amenity of 3 

Belton Gardens and the approved residential development on the southern side of Tenter 

87



 

 
 

Lane. In particular, it is stated that the scheme would have an unacceptable impact on the 

privacy and light afforded to these properties.  

 

7.11.2 In this regard, it is noted that the current application is a revised submission of a previously 

refused application for a development of the same description. The previously application 

was not refused for any reasons relating to the impact of the development on the amenity 

of neighbouring properties, and whilst the current application has been significantly revised 

compared to the previous scheme, these revisions have not altered the relationship between 

the development and the neighbouring properties.  

 

7.11.3 Notwithstanding the above, Local Plan Policy DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) states 

(amongst other criteria) that all developments will be expected to ensure that there is no 

adverse impact on the amenity of neighbouring users in terms of noise, light pollution, loss 

of privacy and loss of light, and should provide sufficient amenity space, suitable to the type 

and amount of development proposed.  

 

7.11.4 Furthermore, the adopted Design Guidelines SPD (Adopted November 2021) identifies a 

series of standards that are to be utilised when assessing the quality of residential amenity 

provided by development proposals. The following standards are considered to be 

particularly relevant to the current proposals:  

 

(a) Where practical, windows should not look onto private areas of other homes, 

including habitable rooms (living rooms, dining rooms, and bedrooms), kitchens 

and patio areas in gardens immediately adjoining the building 

(b) The 25-degree rule states that there is normally the potential to achieve adequate 

levels of daylight and outlook when no facing building breaks a 25-degree angle 

from the horizontal from a point 2 metres about the floor level. This rule takes 

account of changes of level between buildings.  

(c) Where habitable rooms face the rear of a home, a back-to-back privacy distance 

of 21m window to window will be applied for 2-storey properties; and 28m window-

to-window for 3-storey properties. Where habitable windows face a blank two-

storey elevation, a separation distance of 14m would be applied.  

 

7.11.5 Using the standards set out within the adopted Design Guidelines SPD, the following 

conclusions can be reached in respect of the relationship between the development and 3 

Belton Gardens and the committed Tenter Lane development.  

 

3 Belton Gardens 

7.11.6 It is noted that the separation distance between the proposed development and 3 Belton 

Gardens would be approximately 15 metres, which would fall short of the identified 

standards set out within the adopted Design Guidelines SPD. However, it is appreciated 

that these properties would benefit from a conventional relationship between properties 

within an urban setting, in which properties are situated on the opposite side of an adopted 

highway. Therefore, whilst the scheme would fall short of the identified separation distances, 

it is Officers’ assessment that this would not result in an unacceptable impact on the privacy 

of the occupants of 3 Belton Gardens.  

7.11.7 Similarly, in terms of the impact on the availability of light to 3 Belton Gardens, having regard 

to the separation distance between the front elevation of 3 Belton Gardens and the front 

88



 

 
 

elevation of the proposed development, as well as the proposed height of the Belton Street 

elevation, the proposed development would not breach the 25-degree angle as required by 

the Design Guidelines SPD. As such, it is Officers’ assessment that the proposals would not 

have an unacceptable impact on the availability of light for 3 Belton Gardens.  

Tenter Lane development 

 

7.11.8 In respect of the relationship between the proposed development and the future occupants 

of the approved residential scheme on the southern side of Tenter lane, it is appreciated 

that Tenter Lane is a narrow road, which would result in a separation distance of 

approximately 5m between the elevation of these properties; this falls short of the privacy 

separation distance contained in the Design Guidelines. However, it is noted that all 

windows in the Tenter Lane elevation are indicated as being obscure glazed and having 

window opening restrictions. Similarly, the frameless glass balustrade of the roof terrace on 

this elevation would also be fitted with obscure glazing. As such, there would be no direct 

views being the proposed dwellings and the approved development scheme. It is proposed 

to include conditions requiring these glass panes are obscure glazed to ensure an 

appropriate standard of privacy for all parties.  

 

7.11.9 Similarly, it is appreciated that the proposed development would be situated within close 

proximity of the approved development and this may be impact on the availability of light to 

the ground floor windows of the Tenter Lane development. However, it is noted that this 

arrangement is a conventional arrangement within an urban setting, and future occupants 

of the Tenter Lane development and the current application scheme would be aware of the 

relationship between the two schemes and would be required to satisfy themselves that they 

have an appropriate standard of amenity to meet their needs.  

 

7.11.10 Consequently, subject to conditions, the application proposals would not give rise to any 

unacceptable adverse impacts on the amenity of residential properties.  

 

7.11.11 In respect of the provision of an appropriate standard of amenity for future occupants of the 

proposed development, it is appreciated that the Framework (Paragraph 130) includes an 

obligation for planning policies and decisions to create places that are safe, inclusive and 

accessible; and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime and disorder, do not 

undermine the quality of life. With regards to this, Lincolnshire Police Crime Prevention 

Officer has been consulted on the application proposals and have confirmed that they have 

no objections, but that further information is required in relation to access control measures 

for the underpass which is proposed to provide access to the central courtyard. As identified, 

access forms a reserved matter, which would be subject to future determination, and as 

such the potential access controls to the development are not for consideration as part of 

the current application. Notwithstanding this, a condition is proposed to confirm that further 

details of access control would be required to be submitted as part of any future reserved 

matters application for access matters.  

 

7.11.12 In terms of the availability of private amenity space for the development, the proposed Gas 

Street fronting townhouses would benefit from private rear courtyard gardens, which would 

provide an adequate level of private amenity space for these dwellings. In addition, the 

proposed maisonettes would also benefit from roof terraces, which would also provide these 

89



 

 
 

dwellings with an appropriate level of private amenity space. As such, it is concluded that 

all proposed dwellings would benefit from appropriate access to private amenity space.  

 

7.11.13 Furthermore, it is noted that representations received from Stamford Town Council have 

raised concerns about the potential impact of construction activities on the neighbouring 

land users. In this respect, it is appreciated that the proposed redevelopment scheme would 

be situated within close proximity to sensitive residential receptors, and therefore, as per 

the consultation response received from the Council’s Environmental Protection Team, 

conditions are proposed requiring the submission and subsequent adherence to a 

Construction and Environmental Management Plan, to ensure that the construction activities 

do not have any unacceptable impacts on neighbouring users.  

 

7.11.14 Taking the above into account, subject to the imposition of conditions, it is Officers’ 

assessment that the application proposals would not have any unacceptable adverse 

impacts on neighbouring properties, and would provide an appropriate level of amenity for 

all existing and future residential occupants. As such, the application would accord with 

Local Plan Policy SP3 and DE1, Stamford Neighbourhood Plan Policy 2, and Section 12 of 

the Framework.  

 

7.12 Pollution Control  

7.12.1 As stated above, it is appreciated that the application site currently comprises of office uses, 

light industrial uses (including a vehicle repair garage and tyre fitting garage) and domestic 

garages, and it is appreciated that such historical uses of the site may give rise to potential 

sources of ground contamination.  

 

7.12.2 In relation to the above, the Council’s Environmental Protection Team has been consulted 

on the application and have confirmed that they have no objections, subject to the imposition 

of conditions requiring the completion of further Ground Investigations and an Asbestos 

Survey.  

 

7.12.3 Similarly, the Environment Agency have been consulted on the application proposals and 

have confirmed that there is a potential risk of contamination that could be mobilised during 

construction, which would pollute controlled waters, and that such matters are particularly 

sensitive in this location because the site is located within Source Protection Zone 3 and is 

also located upon a Principal Aquifer. As such, further detailed investigation is required prior 

to built development; this echoes the requirement for the submission of a suitable Ground 

Investigation and Remediation Strategy. However, the EA and the Council’s Environmental 

Protection Team have both confirmed that they are satisfied that this can be secured via a 

pre-commencement condition.  

 

7.12.4 As such, subject to the imposition of conditions requiring further Ground Investigations and 

an Asbestos Survey, the proposed development would not give rise to any unacceptable 

risks of pollution / ground contamination.  

 

7.12.5 Furthermore, it is also appreciated that the property immediately to the north of the Belton 

Street accommodation is currently occupied by Project One as an MOT testing centre, which 

may entail activities which are likely to give rise to elevated levels of noise, odour and dust 

90



 

 
 

pollution, which may conflict with a more sensitive receptor, such as the occupation of the 

proposed development for office and residential purposes.  

 

7.12.6 In this respect, the Council’s Environmental Protection Officer has raised no concerns in 

principle about the compatibility of the proposed office and residential accommodation with 

the existing garage operations. In connection with this, it is noted that there are existing 

office and residential units located immediately adjacent to the Project One facility, which 

would indicate that the levels of noise generated by the garage’s operations would not 

restrict the siting of such uses within this area. Nonetheless, it is proposed to impose a 

condition requiring the completion of an Acoustic Survey, and the subsequent 

implementation of any necessary noise mitigation measures.  

 

7.12.7 Taking the above into account, it is concluded that, subject to conditions, the proposed 

development would not give rise to any unacceptable risks of pollution / ground 

contamination and could appropriately co-exist alongside the existing, adjacent light 

industrial operations. As such, the application proposals would accord with the principles of 

Policy EN4 of the adopted Local Plan and Section 15 of the National Planning Policy 

Framework.  

 

7.13 Access, Highways and Parking 

7.13.1 As previously discussed, the current application has been submitted in outline with matters 

of appearance, layout and scale for determination only. As such, detailed matters of access, 

specifically accessibility to and within the site for cars, cycles and pedestrians, the 

positioning of the access and circulation routes and their connection to the public highway, 

do not fall to be assessed as part of the current application. Nonetheless, as part of the 

assessment of the principle of development on the site, the Local Planning Authority must 

satisfy itself that the development would not give rise to an unacceptable impact on the local 

highway network, and could as a matter of principle provide a safe and suitable access 

arrangement. 

 

7.13.2 In this respect, Local Plan Policy ID2 (Transport and Strategic Transport Infrastructure) 

identifies that the Council will support and promote an efficient and safe transport network, 

which offers a range of transport choices for the movement of people and goods, reduces 

the need to travel by car and encourages the use of alternatives, such as walking, cycling 

or public transport. The policy requires development proposals to not result in any 

unacceptable highway safety impacts or result in severe cumulative impacts on the capacity 

of the highway network. Proposed schemes are also required to include appropriate 

provision for vehicle, two-wheeler and cycle parking.  

 

7.13.3 Similarly, Policy 11 (Sustainable Transport) of the Stamford Neighbourhood Plan 

requirements development proposals for 10 or more dwellings to demonstrate that they 

promote active travel through the provision of appropriate cycle parking and storage, and 

ensure there is easy and clear connections to transport nodes, such as bus stops.  

 

7.13.4 In connection with the above, it is appreciated that public representations have raised 

objections due to concerns about the capacity of the local highways network to 

accommodate the development.  

91



 

 
 

7.13.5 In this respect, Lincolnshire County Council (as Local Highways Authority) have been 

consulted on the application proposals and have confirmed that the application proposals 

would not give rise to any significant impacts on the local highways network.  

 

7.13.6 Similarly, in terms of the provision of appropriate vehicle and cycle parking, it is noted that 

the submitted Site Layout indicates the provision of 1 (no) vehicle parking space per 

apartment, and no private parking for the proposed townhouses, which would fall short of 

the standards contained within the Lincolnshire County Council Design Guidance and the 

made Neighbourhood Plan. However, it is noted that the site is positioned within a central 

urban location, where services and facilities are within a reasonable walking distance, and 

as such, future occupants would not be reliant on a private vehicle to necessitate the 

provision of dedicated occupant parking. In addition, the site is also located immediately 

adjacent to the Wharf Road public car park, which would provide sufficient parking 

opportunities for residents and visitors.  

 

7.13.7 In addition, it is noted that Lincolnshire Crime Prevention Officer has confirmed that further 

information is required in respect of access control measures for the secured bicycle storage 

proposed on the northern boundary of the internal courtyard. These details would be 

expected to form part of the access and landscaping details provided at reserved matters 

stage, nonetheless, a condition is proposed to confirm that these details are required.  

 

7.13.8 Taking the above into account, it is concluded that the application site benefits from a 

location which would encourage future occupants to travel to / from the site via sustainable 

modes of transport. The proposals are not considered to give rise to any unacceptable 

impact on highways safety and capacity. Consequently, the application proposals have 

been assessed as being in accordance with the principles of Policy ID2 of the Local Plan, 

Policy 11 of the Stamford Neighbourhood Plan, and Section 9 of the Framework.  

 

7.14 Flood Risk and Drainage Infrastructure  

7.14.1 In respect of flood risk and drainage matters, it is noted that there have been no 

representations received on the application on these points.  

 

7.14.2 In any event, the application site is located within Flood Zone 1 of the Flood Map for Planning 

and is also identify as being at very low risk of surface water flooding. As such, the 

application site is deemed to present an overall low risk of flooding to the surrounding area.  

 

7.14.3 Similarly, it is appreciated that the application site is brownfield land which is comprised of 

hardstanding. As such, the application proposals would not significantly increase the area 

of impermeable surfacing at the site, and the submitted Drainage Note identifies that there 

may be opportunities to increase the permeable surfacing at the site as part of the future 

landscaping reserved matters application, and a detailed drainage strategy.  

 

7.14.4 In connection with the above, Lincolnshire County Council (as Lead Local Flood Authority) 

have been consulted on the application and have confirmed that they have no objections, 

subject to the imposition of conditions requiring the submission and approval of a detailed 

foul and surface water drainage strategy.  

 

92



 

 
 

7.14.5 In addition, Anglian Water have been consulted on the application proposals and have 

similarly confirmed that they have no objection, subject to the imposition of conditions and 

informatives. Likewise, as identified above, the Environment Agency have confirmed that 

they have no objections subject to the completion of a detailed drainage strategy.  

 

7.14.6 Thus, subject to the imposition of conditions requiring the submission of a detail foul and 

surface water drainage strategy, the application proposals would accord with Policy EN5 of 

the South Kesteven Local Plan and Section 14 of the Framework.  

 

7.15 Open Space Provision 

7.15.1 As referenced above, matters of hard and soft landscaping remain reserved for future 

determination. However, it is appreciated that the submitted Proposed Site Layout, which is 

for consideration as part of the current application, indicates the provision of private 

courtyard gardens to serve the terrace of townhouses, and the provision of roof terraces for 

the proposed maisonettes. Nonetheless, there is limited scope within the submitted site 

layout to provide further public open space on site.  

 

7.15.2 In this respect, in assessing the application scheme against the open space standards set 

out in Local Plan Policy OS1, it is Officers’ assessment that the application site benefits from 

suitable access to informal / natural green space provision within the surrounding area. The 

application site is located approximately 100m north of the River Welland and is similarly 

located within close proximity to Burghley House Registered Park and Gardens.  

 

7.15.3 In addition, it is also concluded that the site benefits from suitable access to existing outdoor 

sports provision and children’s young persons equipped play space with facilities located 

Stamford Recreation Ground, which is situated approximately 0.5 miles to the north of the 

site and is within a 10 minute walking time.  

7.15.4  

Taking the above into account, it is Officers’ assessment that the application site benefits 

from appropriate access to existing open space provision and would not generate a level of 

demand for open space that would require any additional provision beyond the existing, 

available facilities. As such, the application proposals would be in accordance with Policy 

OS1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan and Section 8 of the Framework.  

 

7.16 Impact on biodiversity and ecology 

7.16.1 It is appreciated that the application site includes a number of existing buildings, including 

light industrial units and domestic garages, which are in various states of repair and, 

therefore, may provide a suitable habitat for protected species.  

 

7.16.2 The Applicant has submitted a Protected Species Survey (September 2021), which 

concludes the following:  

 

“No evidence of bats was found in any of the buildings, which all have negligible or no 

potential to support them due to their modern brick, breeze block and corrugated sheeting 

construction which provides no significant roosting opportunities, with the corrugated 

sheeting having poor insulation properties. The office building and garages having flat roofs, 

and all of the buildings are in good structural condition. Their use as offices and vehicle 

workshops also creates high levels of light, noise, vibration, fumes and other disturbance 

93



 

 
 

which would deter roosting bats. A licence from Natural England would not be required for 

the proposed development, though as the presence of bats can never be discounted 

entirely, a schedule of precautionary measures should be adopted during demolition and 

building work.  

 

The site is surrounded by other commercial buildings, housing and a car park in a well-lit 

town centre location, and the immediate area is unlikely to provide good foraging habitat for 

bats.  

 

No evidence of nesting birds was found in the buildings, though a check for nesting birds 

will need to be undertaken prior to demolition or building work commencing. If nesting birds 

are identified, works in the area of the nest will need to be delayed until the birds have left 

the nest.  

 

Swift boxes could be incorporated into any replacement buildings to provide a gain for 

biodiversity”.  

 

7.16.3 As such, subject to the imposition of conditions requiring the development to be carried out 

in accordance with measures contained within the Protected Species Survey, and the 

submission of details of a scheme for the provision of bat and bird boxes as part of the 

proposed development, it is concluded that the application proposals would not give rise to 

any unacceptable adverse impacts on ecological assets and would provide an appropriate 

opportunity to deliver a biodiversity net gain.  

 

7.16.4 Similarly, opportunities for further ecological enhancements could also be secured as part 

of the detailed soft landscaping scheme, which would be required as part of any future 

reserved matters application.  

 

7.16.5 Taking the above into account, subject to conditions, the application proposals are 

considered to accord with the requirements of Policy EN2 of the adopted South Kesteven 

Local Plan and Section 14 of the Framework in respect of ecology and biodiversity.  

 

7.17 Climate Change 

7.17.1 As previously identified, the application proposals would involve the redevelopment of an 

under-utilised site located within the main built-up area of Stamford and, therefore, the site 

is deemed to be an appropriate location for residential development. As such, the 

application scheme would accord with the locational principles of Policy SD1.  

 

7.17.2 The application has been accompanied by a Design and Access Statement which sets out 

a series of sustainability principles, which will be implemented to enhance the overall 

sustainability and energy efficiency of the development. This includes the following:  

 

(a) The proposed new build structures will be constructed to the current Building 

Regulation standards for thermal efficiency, air tightness and low carbon heating 

and lighting strategies as a minimum.  

(b) The energy and CO2 emissions will be reduced as far as possible, mainly through 

the use of air source heat pumps and all LED lighting. The heat pumps would be 

94



 

 
 

located on the rear elevations of the Gas Street terrace and roof mounted on Block 

A.  

(c) Water saving measures will be employed both internally and externally, through 

water recycling measures and storage on site for use in the gardens.  

(d) Waste standards will be strictly enforced on site to reduce the amount of waste and 

re-use of construction materials.  

(e) Insulation materials will be used which are not harmful to the environment. 

(f) Where possible, local and / or sustainable building materials will be utilised to 

minimise embodied carbon footprint from the buildings construction.  

(g) Block A will feature a green roof to aid storm water attenuation and improve 

biodiversity, with a mix of sedum planting and low maintenance perennials which 

support pollinators.  

 

7.17.3 In this respect, the above measures are deemed to be reflective of the overall principles of 

sustainable design and development set out within Policy SD1 and Policy SB1 of the 

adopted Local Plan. However, they do not specifically provide details as to how the scheme 

would comply with the policy thresholds, including the provision of electric vehicle charging 

points. However, it is considered that this could be appropriately addressed through the 

imposition of conditions requiring the submission of further details of sustainable building 

measures.  

 

7.17.4 Therefore, subject to the imposition of conditions securing further details of sustainable 

building measures, the proposal would represent sustainable development when assessed 

as a whole, and would accord with the requirements of Policy SB1 and SD1 of the adopted 

Local Plan.  

 

7.18 Minerals Safeguarding 

7.18.1 As identified previously, the site is located within a Minerals Safeguarding Area for Sand 

and Gravel, as designated under Policy M11 (Safeguarding of Minerals Resources) of the 

Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan. This policy states that applications for non-

minerals development should be accompanied by a Minerals Resource Assessment.  

 

7.18.2 The application has been accompanied by a Minerals Safeguarding Assessment Statement 

produced by the Applicant, which identifies the following key conclusions:  

 

(a) Approximately 4/5th of the site is located within the Minerals Safeguarding Area for 

Sand and Gravel, with the remaining 1/5th sitting outside of the Safeguarding Area.  

(b) While the development will not have a detrimental impact upon the mineral itself, it 

would render the mineral inaccessible for future extraction unless the development 

was subsequently demolished. It should also be noted that the site is a brownfield 

site with existing structures, and as such the mineral could not be readily extracted 

without the removal of those structure and their occupants should the proposed 

development not be approved.  

(c) Given the constrained area of the site and the proximity of adjacent neighbouring 

structures, it would not be practicable or economically viable to extract the mineral 

in advance of the development, either for use within the development or elsewhere.  

(d) Furthermore, the site is located within the town centre of Stamford, surrounded by 

commercial and residential  properties and is also immediately adjacent to the 

95



 

 
 

Conservation Area. It is therefore extremely unlikely that the site would ever be 

targeted for the extraction of the mineral.  

 

7.18.3 In this regard, Lincolnshire County Council (as Local Minerals Planning Authority) have been 

consulted on the application proposals and they have confirmed that they have no minerals 

safeguarding objections.  

 

7.18.4 In view of the above, it is concluded that the proposals would accord with Policy M11 of the 

Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan and Section 17 of the Framework.  

 

7.19 Infrastructure for Growth 

7.19.1 Local Plan Policy ID1 (Infrastructure for Growth) states that all development proposals will 

be expected to demonstrate that there is, or will be, sufficient infrastructure capacity to 

support and meet the essential infrastructure requirements arising from the proposed 

development.  

 

7.19.2 In this respect, Lincolnshire County Council (as Local Education Authority) have been 

consulted on the application and have confirmed that there is sufficient capacity within the 

local area to accommodate the development without any requirement for financial 

contributions.  

 

7.19.3 Lincolnshire Integrated Care Board (LICB) have been consulted on the application and have 

confirmed that the development will impact on Lakeside Healthcare in Stamford and the 

Glenside Country Practice. As such, they have requested a Section 106 contribution of 

£9,900.00 to contribute towards expanding health care provision within the local area.  

 

7.19.4 Furthermore, Lincolnshire County Council (as Lead Local Highways and Flood Authority) 

have also confirmed that financial contributions of £1,800.00 are required to enable them to 

enter into a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) to install double yellow lines along Gas Street, 

on the eastern side of the carriageway to prevent inappropriate parking following the 

completion of the development. In addition, they have also requested a financial contribution 

of £15,000 towards the ongoing Active Travel Scheme, which includes The Leisure Cycle 

Route around Stamford, and to provide secure cycle storage within the town centre, signs 

and lines and additional cycling infrastructure.  

 

7.19.5 As such, in the event that the application was acceptable in all other respects, the above 

financial contribution would ensure that the local infrastructure is appropriately upgraded to 

cope with the additional population generated by the development. As such, it is concluded 

that these financial requests are compliant with the statutory tests of the CIL Regulations, 

as well as local and national planning policy requirements.  

 

7.19.6 In addition, the application scheme proposes the provision of 5 (no) affordable housing units 

as part of the development scheme. The provision of these units, as well as details of the 

formal tenure requirements and nomination arrangements would be agreed and secured as 

part of an Affordable Housing Scheme, submitted under the obligations of the Section 106 

Agreement.  

 

96



 

 
 

7.19.7 Therefore, subject to the completion of a Section 106 Agreement, the application proposals 

would be in accordance with Policy ID1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

8 Crime and Disorder 
 

8.1 It is considered that the proposal would not result in any significant crime and disorder 

implications.  

 

9 Human Rights Implications 
 

9.1 Article 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and home) 

of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this recommendation. It is 

considered that no relevant Article of that Act will be breached 

 

10 Planning Balance and Conclusions 
 

10.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the Local 

Planning Authority makes decisions in accordance with the adopted Development Plan, 

unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In this respect, it is appreciated that the 

current application is a revised submission of application S21/0683, which was refused by 

the Local Planning Authority in March 2022 for reasons relating to the impact of the 

development on the setting of the adjacent Stamford Conservation Area as a result of the 

excessive scale and neo-Georgian architectural design, and the overall design quality 

detracting from the character and appearance of the area.  

 

10.2 The current application scheme has been substantially revised to address the previous 

reasons for refusal. In respect of the Gas Street elevation, the height of the proposed 

townhouses has been reduced by 3 metres, and the roofscape now demonstrates a 

gradation which reflects the roofline of the adjacent residential properties, and the 

topography of the area. Furthermore, the architectural approach of these townhouses has 

also been revisited in favour of a more contemporary 19th century terrace approach. As a 

result, it is Officers’ assessment that the proposed scale and design of this elevation would 

assimilate with the surrounding area, and features an appropriate degree of reference to the 

historic character without being viewed as inappropriate pastiche design.  

 

10.3 In respect of the Belton Street elevation, the appearance and materiality of this elevation 

has been revised to address the previous reasons for refusal. The ground floor is to be 

constructed of course limestone rubble walls with ashlar quoins and plinths; and the first 

and second floor elevations are to be finished in render with an off-white through colour and 

mid-grey colour respectively. In addition, the window arrangement has also been the subject 

of revision and the proposals now show a bespoke arrangement with a variety of window 

sizes but all of which are to be aluminium casement style windows with a bronzed finish and 

oak external surrounds. Consequently, it is Officers’ assessment that, on balance, the 

application proposals represent an acceptable layout, appearance and scale, which would 

assimilate with the surrounding area, and would not detract from the character and 

appearance of the streetscene.  

 

97



 

 
 

10.4 Furthermore, subject to the imposition of conditions, the application scheme would accord 

with the adopted development plan in respect of all technical matters.  

 

10.5 Taking the above into account, it is Officers’ assessment that the application proposals 

would accord with the adopted Development Plan when taken as a whole, and there are no 

material considerations of sufficient weight to indicate that planning permission should not 

be granted, although appropriate conditions are recommended.  

 

11 Recommendation 
 

Recommendation Part 1 

 

11.1 To authorise the Assistant Director – Planning to GRANT planning permission, subject to 

the completion of a Section 106 Agreement securing the necessary financial contributions 

set out within Section 7.19 of the report, and subject to the proposed schedule of conditions 

set out below.  

 

Recommendation Part 2 

 

11.2 Where the Section 106 Agreement has not been concluded prior to the Committee, a period 

not exceeding twelve weeks after the date of the Committee shall be set for the completion 

of that obligation.  

 

11.3 In the event that the agreement has not been concluded within the twelve-week period and 

where, in the opinion of the Assistant Director – Planning, there are no extenuating 

circumstances which would justify a further extension of time, the related planning 

application shall be refused for the following reason(s):  

 

1. The applicant has failed to enter into a planning obligation to secure the 

necessary financial infrastructure contributions to healthcare and off-site 

highways infrastructure contrary to Policy ID1 and Policy ID2 of the adopted 

South Kesteven Local Plan. In addition, the absence of a legal agreement 

means there is no mechanism for securing the required affordable housing 

provision, contrary to Policy H2 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan 

2011-2036.   

 

Schedule of Condition(s) 

 

Time Limit for Commencement  

 

1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of three years 

from the date of this permission, or two years from the approval of the last reserved matters, 

whichever is the latter.  

 

Reason: In order that development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out in Section 

92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).  

 

98



 

 
 

2) Details of the reserved matters set out below shall have been submitted to the Local Planning 

Authority for approval within three years from the date of this permission:  

 

i. Access 

ii. Landscaping 

 

Approval of all reserved matters shall have been obtained from the Local Planning Authority 

in writing before any development is commenced. 

 

Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the development in detail and in 

order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out in Section 92 of the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)  

 

Approved Plans 

 

3) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following list 

of approved plans (in relation to the scale, appearance and layout only):  

 

i. Proposed Block Plan (Ref: 1298/03/Rev F) 

ii. Proposed Site Layout (Ref: 1298/04/Rev B) 

iii. Proposed Block A Floor Plan (Ref: 1298/05/Rev C) 

iv. Proposed Block B Floor Plan (Ref: 1298/06/Rev B) 

v. Proposed Elevation Plan – Belton Street / Gas Street / Tenter Lane (Ref: 

1298/07/Rev D) 

vi. Proposed Elevation Plan – Internal Courtyard (Ref: 1298/08/Rev C) 

vii. Site Section Plan (Ref: 1298/09/Rev C) 

 

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.  

 

Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.  

 

Before the Development is Commenced 

 

Demolition and Construction Management Plan 

 

4) No development shall take place, including demolition of buildings hereby approved, until a 

Demolition Method Statement and Construction Management Plan and Method Statement 

has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, which shall 

include measures to mitigate against noise, dust and vibration, traffic generated and drainage 

of the site during the demolition and construction stages of the proposed development.  

 

The Construction Management Plan and Method Statement shall include:  

 

i) The phasing of the development to include access construction 

ii) The parking of vehicles and site operatives and visitors 

iii) The loading and unloading of plant and materials 

iv) The storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development 

v) Wheel washing facilities 

99



 

 
 

vi) The routes of construction traffic to and from the site including any off site routes for 

the disposal of excavated material 

vii) A strategy stating how surface water runoff on and from the development will be 

managed; and 

viii) Method statement for how demolition and removal works of the existing buildings will 

be undertaken.  

 

The Demolition Method Statement shall be strictly adhered to throughout the demolition 

period.  

 

The Construction Management Plan and Method Statement shall be strictly adhered to 

throughout the construction period.  

 

Ground Investigations 

 

5) No works pursuant to this permission shall commence, unless otherwise agreed in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority, until there have been submitted to and approved in writing:  

 

a. A desk stop study documenting all the previous and existing land uses of the site and 

adjacent land (Phase 1);  

 

Should the Phase 1 Study identify potentially contaminative uses, the Applicant shall proceed 

to a Phase 2 site investigation detailed below:  

 

b. A site investigation report assessing the ground conditions of the site and incorporating 

chemical and gas analysis identified as appropriate by the desk top study; and if 

required 

c. A detailed scheme for remedial works (should such works be required) and measures 

to be undertaken to avoid risk from contaminants and / or gases when the site is 

developed and proposals for future maintenance and monitoring. Such a scheme shall 

include nomination of a competent person to oversee the implementation of the works.  

 

Reason: Previous activities associated with this site may have caused, or had the potential 

to cause, land contamination and to ensure that the proposed site investigations and 

remediation will not cause pollution in the interests of the amenities of future residents and 

users of the development; and in accordance with Local Plan Policy EN4 (Pollution Control) 

and national guidance contained in the NPPF.  

 

Asbestos Survey 

 

6) No works pursuant to this permission shall commence, including demolition of the buildings 

hereby approved, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, until a 

detailed asbestos survey of the buildings to be demolished have been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the development shall not be 

carried out other than in accordance with the approved details.  

 

Reason: Details are required to be submitted prior to the commencement of works to ensure 

that the risks from asbestos to the environment, future users of the site and neighbouring 

100



 

 
 

land users are minimised, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely 

without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other off-site receptors.  

 

Acoustic Assessment 

 

7) Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, an Acoustic Survey 

(including assessment of the noise impacts of the existing, adjacent land uses, and the 

commercial and residential uses of the application site) shall have been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, any noise mitigation 

measures identified as necessary within the submitted report shall be completed prior to the 

first occupation / use of the development hereby permitted.  

 

Reason: To ensure future occupants of the development benefit from an appropriate noise 

environment, and development does not impose any restrictions on the existing industrial 

land uses within the vicinity of the site, in accordance with Policy DE1 and EN4 of the adopted 

South Kesteven Local Plan.  

Archaeological Investigations 

 

8) Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, a written scheme of archaeological 

investigation shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority.  

 

The archaeological investigations shall also have been completed in accordance with the 

approved details before the development commences.  

 

Reason: In order to provide a reasonable opportunity to record the history of the site and in 

accordance with Policy EN6 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

Surface and Foul Water Drainage details 

 

9) Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, a scheme for the treatment of 

surface and foul water drainage shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority. The drainage details must:  

 

a. Be based on an assessment of the hydrological and hydrogeological context of the 

development 

b. Provide details of how run-off will be safely conveyed and attenuated during storms 

up to and including the 1 in 100 year critical storm event, with an allowance for climate 

change, from all hard surfaced areas within the development into the existing local 

drainage infrastructure and watercourse system without exceeding the runoff rate for 

the undeveloped site.  

c. Provide attenuation details and discharge rates which shall be restricted to the 

brownfield runoff rate.  

d. Provide details of the timetable for and any phasing of the implementation for the 

drainage scheme; and  

e. Provide details of how the scheme shall be maintained and managed over the lifetime 

of the development, including any arrangements for the adoption by any public body 

or Statutory Undertaker and any other arrangements required to secure the operation 

of the drainage system throughout its lifetime. 

101



 

 
 

 

Reason: To ensure that the permitted development is adequately drained without creating or 

increasing the flood risk to land or property adjacent to, or downstream of, or upstream of, 

the permitted development and in accordance with Policy EN5 of the South Kesteven Local 

Plan. 

 

Undercroft Access Control  

 

10) As part of any application for the access reserved matters, details of access control measures 

to the proposed undercroft access point beneath Block A of the approved development, shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 

Thereafter, the approved measures shall be implemented prior to the first occupation of the 

development hereby permitted.  

 

Reason: To reduce the risk of crime, and the fear of crime and disorder, in accordance with 

Section 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

  

Secure Bicycle Storage 

 

11) As part of any application for the landscaping reserved matters, details of the location, scale, 

and appearance of the proposed bicycle storage areas shall be submitted to and approved 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 

Thereafter, the development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details 

prior to the first occupation of the development.  

 

Reason: To reduce the risk of crime and disorder, and to ensure that the development is 

appropriate for the character and appearance of the area, in accordance with Policy DE1 of 

the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

During Building Works 

 

Materials Details 

 

12) Before any works on the external elevations of the development hereby permitted are begun 

details of the materials (including the colour of the render, paintwork or colourwash) to be 

used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby permitted shall 

have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Materials 

shall be in broad accordance with the details shown on the Proposed Elevations Plans (Ref: 

1298/07/Rev D and 1298/08/Rev C). 

 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance with 

Policy DE1 of the adopted Local Plan.  

 

Sustainable Building Measures 

 

13) Before any works on the external elevations of the development hereby permitted are begun, 

details demonstrating how the approved scheme would comply with the requirements of 

102



 

 
 

Local Plan Policy SB1 shall have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. The scheme shall include details of how carbon dioxide emissions would 

be minimised through the design and construction of the development; details of water 

efficiency; and the provision of electric car charging points.  

 

The approved sustainable building measures shall be completed in full, in accordance with 

the approved scheme, prior to first occupation of the development.  

 

Reason: To ensure the development mitigates against and adapts to climate change, in 

accordance with Local Plan Policy SB1 and SD1.  

 

Ecological Mitigation 

 

14) All works on site, during demolition and construction, shall be carried out in accordance with 

the recommendations set out in the Protected Species Survey (Phillip Irving) (September 

2021), including the installation of bird and bat nesting boxes. 

 

The scheme of bird and bat boxes to be installed on site shall be completed prior to the first 

occupation of the development hereby permitted, and shall be retained throughout the lifetime 

of the development.  

 

Reason: In the interests of best ecological practice and in accordance with Policy EN2 of the 

adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

Flood Risk Assessment 

 

15) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted Flood Risk 

Assessment (FRA) (Ref: ECL0554/RTKSTAMFORD) dated September 2022 and the 

mitigation measures outlined in Section 5.  

 

These mitigation measures shall be implemented fully prior to first occupation of the 

development and shall be retained and maintained thereafter for the lifetime of the 

development.  

 

Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development.  

 

Previously Unidentified Contamination 

 

16) If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the 

site, then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority) shall be carried out until a remediation strategy detailing how this contamination 

will be dealt with has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority.  

 

Thereafter, the remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved.  

 

Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is not put at 

unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution from 

previously unidentified contamination sources at the development site.  

103



 

 
 

 

Before the Development is Occupied 

 

Materials Implementation 

 

17) Before the development hereby permitted is occupied / brought into use, the external 

elevations must have been completed in accordance with the approved external material 

details.  

 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance with 

Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

Obscure Glazing 

 

18) Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, the first floor windows in 

the Tenter Lane elevations shall have been installed with obscure glazing and with no 

opening part being less than 1.7m above the floor level immediately below the centre of the 

opening part. In addition, the frameless glass balustrade to the second floor of the Tenter 

Lane elevation shall also have been installed with obscure glazing. All obscure glazing must 

be obscured to a minimum of Pilkington – Privacy Level 3 or an equivalent product. Once 

installed, the window units and balustrade shall thereafter be retained as such  at all times.  

 

Reason: To safeguarding the privacy of occupies of the neighbouring / adjoining properties.  

 

Drainage Implementation 

 

19) Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied / brought into use, the works 

to provide the surface and foul water drainage shall have been completed in accordance with 

the approved details.  

 

Reason: To ensure the provision of satisfactory surface and foul water drainage in 

accordance with Policy EN5 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

Contamination Verification 

 

20) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied or brought into use until a 

verification report has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. The report shall be submitted by the agreed competent person and identify that the 

approved remedial works have been implemented. The report shall include, unless otherwise 

agreed in writing:  

 

a. A complete record of remediation activities, and data collected as identified in the 

remediation scheme, to support compliance with the agreed remediation objectives;  

b. As built drawings of the implemented scheme  

c. Photographs of the remediation works in progress; and  

d. Certificates demonstrating that important and / or material left in situ is free from 

contamination.  

 

104



 

 
 

Thereafter, the scheme shall be monitored and maintained in accordance with the approved 

remediation scheme.  

 

Reason: Previous activities associated with this site may have caused, or had the potential 

to cause, land contamination and to ensure that the proposed site investigations and 

remediation will not cause pollution in the interests of the amenities of future residents and 

users of the development; and in accordance with Policy EN4 of the adopted South Kesteven 

Local Plan and national guidance contained in the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 

21) Within seven days of the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, the existing 

dropped kerbs shall be reinstated to full height kerbs on Gas Street, Tenter Lane and Belton 

Street, as agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  

 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the safety of users of the public highway.  

 

Standard Note(s) to Applicant:  

 

1) In reaching this decision, the Council has worked with the applicant in a positive and proactive 

manner by determining the application without undue delay. As such, it is considered that the 

decision is in accordance with Paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework 

(2021). 

 

2) Notification of intention to connect to the public sewer under Section 106 of the Water Industry 

Act Approval and consent will be required by Anglian Water, under the Water Industry Act 

1991. Contact Development Services Team 0345 606 6087. 

 

3) Protection of existing assets – A public sewer is shown on record plans within the land 

identified for the proposed development. It appears that the development proposals will affect 

existing public sewers. It is recommended that the Applicant contacts Anglian Water 

Development Services Team for further advice on this matter. Building over existing public 

sewers will not be permitted (without agreement) from Anglian Water.  

 

4) Building near to a public sewer – No building will be permitted within the statutory easement 

width of 3m from the pipeline without agreement from Anglian Water. Please contact 

Development Services Team on 0345 606 6087.  

 

5) The developer should note that the site drainage details submitted have not been approved 

for the purposes of adoption. If the developer wishes to have the sewers included in a sewer 

adoption agreement with Anglian Water (under Section 104 of the Water Industry Act 1991), 

they should contact Development Services Team on 0345 606 6087 at the earliest 

opportunity. Sewers intended for adoption should be design and constructed in accordance 

with the Sewers for Adoption guide for developments, as supplemented by Anglian Water’s 

requirements.  

 

6) The permitted development requires the formation of a new / amended vehicular access. 

These works will require approval from the Highway Authority in accordance with Section 184 

of the Highways Act. Any traffic management required to undertake works within the highway 

will be subject to agreement. The access must be constructed in accordance with the current 

specification issued by the Highway Authority. Any requirement to relocate existing 

105



 

 
 

apparatus, underground services, or street furniture because of the installation of an access 

will be the responsibility, and cost of the applicant and must be agreed prior to a vehicle 

access application. The application form, costs and guidance document can be found at the 

following link:  

 

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/licences-permits/apply-dropped-kerb  

 

7) Please contact the Lincolnshire County Council Streetworks and Permitting Team on 01522 

782070 to discuss any proposed statutory utility connections, Section 50 licences and any 

other works which will be required within the public highway in association with the 

development permitted under this Consent. This will enable Lincolnshire County Council to 

assist in the coordination and timings of these works. For further guidance please visit our 

website via the following link: Traffic Management - 

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/traffic-management  

  

 

106

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/licences-permits/apply-dropped-kerb
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/traffic-management


 

 
 

Site Location Plan 

 

107



 

 
 

Existing Site Plan 

 

108



 

 
 

Proposed Block Plan 

 

109



 

 
 

Proposed Site Layout 

110



 

 
 

Proposed Elevation Plan – Belton Street / Gas Street / Tenter Lane 

111



 

 
 

Proposed Elevation Plan – Internal Courtyard 

 

112



 

 
 

Site Section Plan 

 

113



 

 
 

Proposed Floorplans – Block A 

114



 

 
 

Proposed Floorplans – Block B 

 

115



 

 
 

 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable 

 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable 

 

 

116


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 12 January 2023
	Minutes

	4 Application S22/1953
	5 Application S22/1828
	Appendix 1 - Essential Need Independent Review

	6 Application S22/1718



